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2 XORTHUMBERLAND.

Ottadini on the west, from the wall in the high part of North-
umberland to the wall in Scotland. The real situation of Curia
has not been accurately ascertained. Bremenium was one of
the twelve urbes stipendarie in Britain, and its large ruins and
chequered walls are still to be seen at Rochester, in Reedsdale.

Besides the numerous remains of camps and castles, scattered
through all parts of Northumberland, the Romans had fourteen
cities in it, and it was crossed by that celebrated barrier, which
in Latin was called Vallum Barbaricum; by Greek authors,
Aidluyoua and Zwua; by the Britons, Gual Sever and Mur
Sever : by the Scots, Scottinwaith; and by the English, the
Pict’s Wall and the Keep Wall.*

Though it is generally allowed that AGricoLa in his second
or third campaign built several of these cities, or stations, yet
the argument in favour of the presumption is drawn from pro-
bable inferences, rather than conclusive evidence. The Benwell
altar, which rcems te mention Senicio,+ who was consul with
Palma, in A.D. 99, and twelve years after Agricola left Bri-
tain, is perhaps teo much obliterated to prove that it belongs
to that time; and it may savour too much of conjecture, to
suppose the prefect Zlius Atticus, who has left his name on an
altar at Lanchester,} about twelve miles from the wall, was the
same as the prefect Aulus Atticus, who, being mounted on a
young and fiery horse, was carried among the enemy, and
perished with the three hundred and forty Romans who fell in
Agricola’s battle with Galgacus.]| An inscription, found at
Great Chesters, records the rebuilding of a granary, which had
fallen down through age, about A.D. 220;§ and a similar do-
cument proves that the armamentaria and principia, which had
fullen down at Lanchester, were repaired in the year 238.¢
Had these buildings been coeval with the third summer of
Agricolu’s licutcnancy, the granary had only lasted one hundred

and

® Camden. t Bax. Glos. t Bcauties, &c. Vol. V., p. 209,

! Tac. in Vit. Jul, Agric. § Brand's Newec, I. 611.
9 Beauties, &c. V. 209. Hors. Chron. Tah.








































































38 NORTNUMBERLAND.

Independent of the produce of the fold-yard, the manmures,
‘chiefly in use, are lime, marlo, and sea-weed. Lime is plenti-
ful in almost all parts of the county, except inthe porphyry
district of the Cheviot Hills, and the coal-field in Castle Ward.
Stone marle ¢ abounds in many places ncar the Tweed side.’ ®
Large supplies of excellent skeli-merle are drawn from boggs in
the parishes of Branxton and Carham, and have been employed
on the grass lands about Wark and Learmouth with great effect.
Clayey marles, that effervesce in nitrous acid, are found at Ilder.
ton, Chillingham, and Westwood, near Hexham. + The marine
weeds, collected from rocks, or washed ashore by heavy seas, are
much esteemed along the coast; and a considerable supply of
manure is also annually brought as ballast from London in the
ships employed in the coal trade.

The Tynges of this county have, perhaps, no peculiar feature.
Out of the seventy-three parishes contained within its boundaries,
only thirteen are rectories ; the tythes of hay and corn are con-
sequently in the hands of opulent laymen, a cause which, more
than any other, operates against their being exchanged for a
fair equivalent.

As an increase both of knowledge and capital has of late
years been employed in agriculture, the rental of the county has
rapidly advanced. In 1809 it amounted to 916,857L 18s. 113d.
The annual value of estates, rise from the smallest sums to up-
wards of 30,000l.—one estate is said to be more than 80,0001,
ayear. Insome of the mountainous districts, especially towards
the sources of the Tyne, there are several small estates, from
thirty to three hundred a year, farmed by their proprietors. As
most of these have been handed down from father to son, through
successions of several generations, strong attachments to ancient
methods of husbandry have descended with them, and new im-
provements have been slowly countenanced. The farms, in
general, are largest in Glendale and Bamborough Wards, ¢ In
the other parts of the county they are from fifty to three hun-

dred

® Gen. View, 20. t Wallis, L. 33. 35.









































































































































































































































































































































































































WORTHUMBRRLAND. 158

SwiNBURXE CASTLE, the seat of Mrs. Riddell, is an elegant
stone building, on‘rising ground, and surrounded with planta-
tions, laid out in long straight lines, which, at a distance, have
adark and hard appearance. This place, with Ganerton, was
held by < Peter de Gunwarton, of the barony of "Baliol, by two
knights’ fees,””* in the reign of Edward the First. .In 1326 It
belonged to John de Swinburne, from whom it passed to John
de Widdrington, by marriage, and was the property of his de-
scendant, John Widderington, in 1596.+ Afterwards it came
to the Riddells, an ancient family, some of whom were opulent
merchants in Newcastle, and built a residence out of the hos-
pital of St. Edmund, in Gateshead, which, owing o a quarrel
between the mob and an old servant, was set on fire as the
Duke of Cumberland marched past it into Scotland, in 1746.
William Ryddel, in 1569, obtained a lease from the crown of
coals “ cum les water pyttes in campis de Gateshed.”} Sir
Thomas, of this family, was so great a loyalist in Cromwell’s
time that 10100l was offered for his head.

St. OswALD’s CHAPEL stands on & high and bold situation,
above Chollerford bridge. In a field near it sculls of men and hilts
of swords have been frequently ploughed up. ¢ There is a fame,*
says Leland, ¢that Oswald won the battle at Halydene a 9.
nayles est from St. Oswalde’s asche, and that Haliden is it that
Bede caulith Hevenfeld. And men there aboute yet finde smaule
wod crossis in the ground.”§ A large silver coin of St. Os-
wald was found, not long since, in repairing the chapel, and
there are many ancient charters in the church of Durham with
seals, bearing his head, and this inscription—~CAPUT SANCTI
OSWALD REGIS, on one side, and his cross and SIGIL-
LUM CUDBERTI PRZESULIS SCI, on the other. The
origin of the sanctity of this place is briefly this :—Ceadwallo
and Penda having rayaged the whole kingdom of Northumber-

land,
® Test. de Nev. p. 385, t Inquis. p. mort. Oct. 8, 1585.
$ Jones's Index to Ree,. Vol. IL, sud Gutsshend, §1It. Vol. VIL p. 61,






NORTHUMBRRLAND. 187

sccording to Bede, was juxts murum, ad Aquilonem, and is
sppased by some to be the same a3 Hallington,* in old writings
Haledovsn, that is, Holy Hill. By the tradition of some, this
battle was fought at Bingfield, where there is & chapel, formerly
under Hexham church; but others assert that it happened in
the grounds of Cockley, below the church and cross of St.
Oswald, and between Erringburn and the Wall. But whether
it was at Hallington, Cockléy, or Bingfield, Erringbura must be
the same broek that Bede calls Denisesburn.t

St. JomnLEx is the name of a parish, the church of which
is dedicated to St. Jobn of Beverley, and stands on & bold and
woody headland, having a prospect of both arms of the Tyne
and far down its united stream. Below it is Hermitage, & place
where both art and pature have united their efforts to render
charming.} Prior Richard calls it Erneshow, which he inter-
prets Eagle’s Hill.§ It was to this sweet solitude that John of
Beverley retired from his spostolic labours of evangelizing the
English pagans, previous to his ingment to the see of Hex-
bam, by King Alfred. Here also was thS oratory of St. Michael,
held sacred in former days for its power over inveterate diseases.
It was plundered by two Scots from the army of David, in 1188;
both of which, says Richard, soon after were seized with mad-

ness,

® Hallington, before the dissolution, belonged to the charch of Hexham,
At present it partly belongs to the Erringtons, and to Christopber Soulsby,
Esq. of Hallington Mains. The Erringtons derive their uame from a small
lmmlet on the Erringburn, and were seated at it in 1372. ‘Their principal
sat, in 1567, was Cockley Tower, a strong old fortress, at presest in ruins,
thongh the dungeons and rooms in its turrets are pretty perfect, and traces
of painting are still observable on the plaster of its walls. Near Hallington
i a hill, called the Mote Lawc, having a square entrenchment upon it, in
the middie of which is a hearth-stone, for kindling alarm-fires upon; and
ot far south-west from St. Oswald’s Chapel is a curious bill, called Henging
Shawes, with several gradations of artificial terraces on its sides.

+ Smith's Bede, apx. p. 720.
$ Stubbs, Act. Poutif. Ebor, col. 1692. § De Stata, &c. col. 291.


















NORTHUMBERLAND.' 161
rather small at present, and thinly inhabited, but formerly, as
vestiges of antiquity testify; largo and magnificent. It has its
ame from the Hestild, a rivulet that runs near it. Etheldreda,
vife of King Egfrid, gave it to St. Wilfrid, Bishop of York,
that he might raise it to be the see of a .bishop. The church
was dedicated to St. Andrew, and is much celebrated by ancient
kistorians for its éxtent and beauty. The workmen emiployed
in building ‘it were brought by St. Wilfrid from Rome. _“Ho
began the edifice by making crypts, and subtérraneous orstoties,
ndmdmgpuaguthmugb all parts of its fomdations. The
pillars that supported the walls were finely polished; square,
ndofvmomothersh.pen,mdthetbmgaﬂmeimd’
immense height and length. These, and the capitals of their
columns, and the bow of the sanctuary, he decorated with
histories and images, carved in relief.on the stone, and with
pictures coloured with great taste. The body of the church
was surrounded with wings and porticos, to which winding
staircases were contrived with the most astonishing art. These
staircases also led to long walking-galleries, and various wind-
ing passages 80 contrived, thata.verygfeltmulumdeofpeoplh
might be within them, unperceived by any person on the ground«
floor of the church. Oratories, oo, as secret as they were
beautiful, were made in all parts of it, and in which were altars
of the Virgin, of St. Michael, St. John the Baptist, and all the
Apostles, Confessors, and Virging. Certain towers and block- .
houses remain unto this day, specimens of the inimitable ex-
cellence of the architecturc of this structure. The reliques,
the religious persons, the ministers, the great library, the
vestments, and utensils of the church, were too numerous and
magnificent for the poverty of our language to describe. The
atrium of the cathedral was girt with a stone wall of great
thicknese and strength, and a stone aqueduct conveyed a stream E
of water through the town to all the offices. The magnitude
of this place is apparent from the extent of its ruins. It ex-
celled, in the excellence of its architecture, all the buildings

Yor, XIL M in,
























NORTHUMBERLANSD. 167

ydlatine privileges. “On an oak mantlepiece of one of the
dark chambers is an inscription, which seems to consist of moral
sentences.®”’ :

This town is finely situated on the south side of the Tyne.
Its streets are narrew, and not well built. It has a market on
Tuesdays, and annual fairs, August the fifth, and Novenmber
the eighth. Leather, gloves, and hats, arc its chief manufirc-
tures. Here is a free-school, founded by Quecn Elizabeth,
June 25th, 1598. The Mercer’s Company, in London,
founded a lectureskip in the church, in 1628, under the will of
Richard Fishborne, Esq. which has opulent revenues at present,
Thie town gave birth to two priors of its church, John, and
Richard de Hexham. John continued the History of Durham,
from 1130 to 1154, which Twisden published among the De-
cem Scriptores, from a single MS. in Benet College Library,
Cambridge. Richard wrote A History of Hexham Church
and Bishops;” ¢ The Reign of Stephen;” and * The War
of the Standard;” also published among the Decem Scrip-
tores.

John Nevil, Marquis of Montague, general of the forces of
Edward the Fourth, gained a decisive victory near this town,
at a place called the Linhills, on the southern bank of Devils-
water, over the forces of the deposed king, Henry the Sixth.
The Abacot, or cap of state, adorned with two rich crowns,
was found upon one of Henry’s attendants; and his general,
the Duke of Somerset, was talegl prisoner and beheaded, as
were several other distinguished characters, at Hexham. Mon-
tague’s success procured him the title of Duke of Northumber-
land. Henry was soon after taken prisoner; and his ueen
and son, after many miseries and adventures, arrived at the
house of René, of Anjou, her father. Duxfield and the Queen’s
Cave, places near the field of battle, date their names from

M4 this
® Hutch. I. 106. Gough's Camd. ITI. 249.

+ Seld. Preef. ad. X. Script. Wlarton's Angl. Sac. 1. Piwef. 48. Tan.

Bib. Brit. p. 6¢8.












NORTHUMBERLAND. 169
ngainst the Scots in 1244, and plundered his neighbours to
repair its roof. Gilbert, of this family, died in 1245, and is
ealled, by M. Paris, ¢ a famous baron, the guardian and orna~
ment of the northern parts.” Three of this family were Earls -
of Angus, viz. Gilbert the Third, who died in 1272; Robert,
who died in 1384 ; and Gilbert the Fourth, who died without
issue in 1881. S8ir Robert, half brother of Gilbert the Fourth,
was sheriff of this county in the years 1871, 1876, 1400, and
1404; and Sir Robert, grandson. of the. second earl, was a -
knight of the garter, and Vice-Admiral of England, in 1410:
be brought such plenty of cloth and .com from 4 Scotch war,
that he was nick-named Robin Mend-Market. He was slain at
Baugie, in Anjou, in 1419.* From this family Prudhoe came
to the Tailboys, who forfeited it at the battle of Hexham.
The crown granted it to John, Duke of Bedford, and after-
wards to Henry Percy, first Earl of Northumberland, in whose
family it still continues. This castle was tenanted, in 1557, by
Hepry Percy, brother of Thomas, Earl of Northumberland ;4
though in 1559 it is described as “ old and ruinous, being
walled about, and in form not much unlike unto a shield
hanging with one point upward, scituate upon a high moate of
earth, with ditches in some places, all wrought with man’s
hand, as it seemeth, and is of content, all the scite of, with a
little garden plat, and the bankes, by estimatcioun, sc. iii acres.
—There is within the scyte, and without the walls, an elder
chapell, which hath been very faire, and covered with slate.””—In
this there was a chantry for two chaplains, founded by Gilbert
Humfranville, first Earl of Angus. ¢ The gate is a tower, all
massy worke on both sides to the top of the vault. Above the
vault is the chepell ; and, above the chepell, a chamber, called
the wardrobe.”” The outer walls appear to be the oldest part
of this fortress, as the square towers in them, on the west side,
have circular bases, and the covered way, which leads to the

innep
4 Hollinshed, II. 536—578.
t Lodge's Ilust. of Brit. Hist. Vol. I. p. 254.






HORTHUMBBALANS. 17
Flio jacet in terris Askini Slius Hage.
By the church is an old tower, which was once the town gaol,
though Camden calls it “ a little turret, built and inhabited by
the vicars.”

CorcHESTER is 2 Roman station, at the confluence of the
brook Cor with the Tyne, half a mile west of Corbridge. Some
have thought that this was Ptolomy’s Curig Otadenorum, but
Horsley makes it the Corstopitum of Antoninus. Jt was “al.
most levelled” in Horsley’s time; ¢ but abundance of medals,
inscriptions, and other Roman antiquities, have been found at
it””* The foundations of the part belopging to Greenwich
Hospital are untouched, but the rest of them are entirely razed.
When this was done, remains of a bath were found, one room
of which was ornamented with a neat, small, green bordering,
The ruins of the Roman bridge here are still discernible, espe-
cially on the south side of the Tyne. There are various altars,
inscriptions, and other curiositics, the produce of this station,
in possession of different persons in Corbridge ; of George Gib-
son, Esq. of Stagshaw-Close House ; and of the Rev. Robert
Clark, of Walwick. But the most curious of its productions
are the two celebrated Greek ipscriptions, foynd in the church.
yard of Corbridge :— .

HPAKAEI
TYPlw
AI°AWPA
APXIEPEIA

ACT...THC
BuMONM

ECorAC
TIOYAXEPM

ANEGHKEN

. Eagh of them make an hexameter, the first being read :—
Hpaxau
* Bsit. Rom. 397.
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lion, 'in 1715, was taken and beheaded, when the whole of his
estates were forfeited to the crown, and given to Greenwich
Hospital. The HaLL was built in 1616, by Francis Ratcliffe,
Esq. and, after falling into ruin, completely removed, by thé
advice of Mr. Smeaton. It stood adjoining to the old tower of
the Devilstones, which still remains. In the chapel, which is
kept in decent repair, though not used, is a vault, contumng
the remains of several of the Ratcliffe family.

Ayszx CastLE stands on the west side of a deep dell, and
by the present extent of its ruins seems to have been, at one
time, a place of great size and strength. It is encompamed
with a ruinous outward wall, pierced with arrow-holes. Here
is & stable arched with stone, and having stone mangers. It
gave name to 8 family, whose heiress Edward the First msr«
sied to Peter de Wallis. Afterwards it belonged to - the
Raymess, of Bolam, who held it from 1368, to the reign of
Charles the First. A moiety of it belonged to the Carnabys of

Havrox Towzr, a strong old seat, with turrets at its four
eorners, and which that family obtained by marrying an heivess
of the Haltons, in Edward the First’s time. They were's
branch of the Carnabys, of Carnaby, near Bridlington, in
Yorkshire. This estate was sold, in the beginning of the last
century, to Jobn Douglas, Esq. and from him descended to
the Bluacketts, of Matfen. Here is preserved a sword of the
Carnabys, sixty-four inches long ; and, a short distance to the
north, is

HarToN CHESTERS, the Hunnum of the Notitia, and garri-
soned by the Ala Saviniana. It lies between the two barriers,
and on both sides of the present military way. It seems to
bave been supplied with water by an aqueduct, from a spring
on the higher ground, which a countryman told Horsley, for-
merly contained the speaking trumpet, which ran through the
whole length of the wall. The border part of the station is
called Silver Hill. On the south side of it, the walls, ditches,
and the intcrior buildings, appear in large asd confused heape

of
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178 NORTHUMBERLAND.

‘England with the Conqueror, by whom they were infeoffed
with lands in the county of Durham: they obtained this estate
by marriage of a co-hciress of William del Strother, of Kirk-
harle Tower, in the reign of Henry the Fifth.

LirTLe HARLE was a manor of the barony of Prudhoe. It

belonged to John de Fenwick in 1551 ; and te William Ainsley
in 1567, the heiress of which family, in 1793, married the
Honourable Charles Lord Murray, youngest son of the Duke
of Athol ; his lordship took the name of Ainsley, and was Dean
of Bocking. Since his death, Little Harle Tower has been
the residence of his relict.
. CapHEATON i said to have been in the hands of the Swin-
burnes since 1264. Leland calls it ¢ Huttun, a fair castle, in
the midste of Northumberland, as in the bredthe of it. It is
three or four miles from Fenwicke Pile, and this is the oldest
house of the Swynburnes.”  Sir Thomas, of this house, in
1405, in company with Lord Berkley and Henry May, Esq.
took fourteen French ships, carrying provisions to Milford
Haven. This family, and the Swinburnes of Edlingham castle,
intermarried in the time of Charles the First, since which time
their chief residence has been here. The mansion house was
built about the ycar 1668, by Sir John Swinburne, who was
created a baronet in 1660; and died in 1706. The present
possessor, Sir John, who is the sixth baronet of the fumily,
has made great improvements here, by building his cottages after
regular plans, and sheltcring his estate with large plantations.

In the beginning of the last century, a great number of Ro-
man coins, and vesscls of silver, were found near this seat, by
somc workmen employed in making a hedge. The coins were
all privately rold ; as were also most of the vessels, after break-
ing the bottoms out of some, and the ornaments and handles off
others. They presented to Sir John Swinburne, the grandfather
of the present baronet, one cup cntire, weighing twenty-six
ounces ; the bottoms ‘of three others; three handles, adorned
with besutiful figurcs in relief; part of another carved handle ;

a figure












182 NORTHUMBERLAXD.

mily : was sold to the Blacketts: and descended to Sir John
Trevelyan, Bart. At present it is occupied by James Fenwick,
Esq. Bclow the garden, on the margin of the Wansbeck, in
an oak wood, are three medicinal fountains, called Thuarstorn
Wells. :

Neruerwirroy, formerly called IVitton-hy-the-Waters, has
a small chapel, under Hartburn. A cotton manufactory was
established here about twentyv years since; but, as it never
flourished, was soon discontinued. Here was the seat of Roger
Thornton, Fsq. the munificent patron of Newcastle. He was
probably born at the neighbouring hamlet of Thornton.®* Tra-
dition represents him as rising out of poverty to great opulence,
which he zequired in merchandize, and mines of lead in Wear-
dale.t He died in 1429. The foxer -he built here has long
gince fallen into ruins. The present mansion, which is a hand-
some structure of white freestone, is the residence of Waker
Trevelyan, Esq. and, with the estate, came to him by marriage
with Jane, eldest daughter of James Thornton, Esq.

MORPETH,

is supposed to derive its name from some patk to it, over
a Moor. The Testa de Nevill describes it as the barony
of Roger de Merlay, held of the king by four knights’ service ;
and that the predecessors of that baron, had held it from the
time of the Conquest, without any part of it being alienated.
This Roger was the third of that name. The first of them, in
1199, obtained, from the crown, licence for a market for his

borough,

@« Thornton, says Warburton, (in a letter to R. Gale, Esq. 5th Jan.
1717-8) though at preseut an inconsiderable village, shews the vestigia in
it of a remarkable town in former times: a bizh ridged wilitary way runs
through the middle of it, and a squaie platforin joins to it, both which are
evidently Roman,

t Sec Bourne's Neve. p. 200,
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borough, and an annual fair on Magdalen Day; his successor
ornamented the borough, and founded an hospital at Catch-
burn; and Roger the Third granted'to his burgesses many im-
munities. He died in 1265, leaving two co-heircsses ;. Mary,
the eldest, married to William Lord Greystock ; and Jonanna;
married to Robert de Somerville. The whole of this barony
descended to Lord Greystock, and from him to his son John,
who divided his grandfather Merlay’s posscssions between him-
self and his uncle, Robert de Somerville ; but having no issue,
and his brother William being dead, he settled his moiety of
this, and his other estates, on his relation, Ralph Fitz-William,
who assumed the name and title of Ralph Lord Greystock: he.
built a chantry in Tynemouth church, and, after possessing the
estate nine years, died in 1316. His successors were: Ralph,
who died in 1817. Ralph, who was poisoned at Gateshead, in
1824, by the revengeful adherents of Sir Gilbert Middleton,
whom his lordship apprehended for treason, in the castle of
Mitford. William, who was summoncd to parliament in 1852,
and, after building the castles of Greystock and Morpeth, died
in 1856. Ralph, was in five parliaments; he had the direction of
the expedition against the Scots, in 1380, when he was taken
prisoner, at Horseridge, in Glendale, by the Earl of Dunbar:
his ransom cost 3000 marks, towards which the burgesses of
Morpeth paid 7. 19s. 10d.; he was a benefactor to the priories
of Brinkburn and Newminster, and died in 1417. John, diéd in
14335. Ralph, was in four parliaments ; he dicd in 1486, when
his estates devolved upon his grand-daughter, Elizabeth, Ba«
roness Greystock and Wemme; who married Thomas Lord
Greystock, of Gilsland, in whose family these possessions con-
tinued, till issue male fuiling, they devolved, in 1566, upon his
two grand-daughters and co-heiresses, Anne, married to Philip,
Earl of Arundel ; and Elizabeth, to William Howard, third son
of Thomas, Duke of Norfolk, and from whom they have lin-

eally descended to the present Earl of Carlisle.
¢ I have no particulars,” says Camden,” from ancient his-
N4 tory,
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bules. There is & good view of it by 8. and N. Buck, in 1728,
It was burnt down about thirey years since; and the only res
wmaining part of it at present is an octangular, embattled towery
t» which s square modern edifice has been added. It come
mands an extemsive sea prospect to the east, and a land view
towards the south as far as Tynemouth Castle.

Cauvszy PARK, a member of the Bothal barony, was the
sont of & yeunger branch of the Ogles, of Bothal Castle, from
whom it bee descended to its present ‘possessor, William Ogle
Wallls @glo. The tower of the mansion-house was built by Jehm
Ogle, Eoq. in 1582. The chapel of S¢t. Cuthbert is in ruins.

LononensLzy was given by Goepatric, Earl of Dunbar, as &
mavisge pertien to Sir Ralph Merlny, Baron of Merpeth.
The senants of this maner, in the tine of Henry the Third,
were compellod to keep the roads and ditches in good erder,
wnder pain of forfeiting duas virgas fivreas,® for every offence.
Half of the village, with a deer-park, and an ancient jower,
helong to Ralph Riddell, Esq. and the other half to C. W,
Bigge, Esq. who is mow employed in building a large and ele-
gent mansien on a part of his estate here, calied: Lixpon.

FrrTon was one of the manors of the barony of Mitford,
and was successively possessed by the Bartram, Pembroke,
Athol, Percy, Scrope, Lisle, and Widdrington familics ; from
which last it passed, by marriage, to the father of the present
possessor, Ralph Riddell, Esq. whose seat, called Felton Hall,
and built by the Widdringtons, stands in an old and extensive
park, on the west side of the village. Here the barens of Nor-
thumberland did homage to Alexander, King of Scots, in 1215;
a defection which King John punished, by laying this and other
places in the neighbourhood in ashes.

On the north side of the Coquet, a few miles below Felton,
is Guysance, of rote only for & nunnery, founded by Richard
Tyson, mentioned in the Lincela Taxation, and ammexcd to
the abbey of Alnwick, by charter of Edward the First.

BRINKBURS
% Wallis, IL. 350. Huteh. L. 510.
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gesses, and sworn into office by a court-leet. It has an exten-
sive common-right; a weekly market on Thursdays; and an
annual fair on the Thursday before the twenty-third of Novem-
ber. In 1801 it contuined 614 inhabitants. In the church,
which has a tall spire, are the remains of Saxon architecture ;
and a cross-legged figure of Hugh de Morwic, with a modern
inscription. Adjoining the church was a cell for two Benedic--
tine monks, from Durham, founded by Bishop Farnham, in
1256, and endowed with the appropriation of the church of
Branxton. The éridge is of three arches of stone ; has a pillar
with the Percys’ arms on the middle of it ; and a tower, lately
repaired, at its south end.

The castle and manor of Warkworth were held of Henry the
Second, by the service of one knight’s fee, by Roger Fitz-
Roger, whose ancestor, Serlo de Burgh, was a follower of the
Conqueror. Edward the First surnamed the family de Claver-
g, from a manor in Essex, granted to them by King John.
Issue male failing in John de Clavering, his estates fell by be-
quest to Edward the Third, who granted them, in 1327, to
Henry, Lord Percy; fram whose family this place was taken
in the reigns of Richard the Second and Henry the Fourth, and
given to Roger Humfranville, whose constable here was Hard-
ing the Chronicler. It was restored to the Percys by Henry the
Fifth, and several times after seized and restored.  The castle was
the favourite residence of the Earls of Northumberland, and in
Leland’s time ¢ well menteyned;” but in 1672, its timber
and lead were granted to one of their agents, and the principal
parts of it unroofed. At all points of view, and especially
from the south, it is a most magnificent pile of ruin: ¢ and,
though of great strength, it seems to have been one of ‘those
hospitable mansions,”

Where throngs of knights and barons bold.
In weeds of peace high triumphs hold,

shan
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towers of which still remain. In 1801 it contained 4719 inha-
bitants. Its market is on Saturdays, and well supplied; and its
Jairs, on the tweltth of May, the last Monday in July, the first
Tuesday in October, and the twenty-fourth of December.
The Town Hall was built in 1731 ; the Shambles, which are
Gothic, by the late Duke of Northumberland. At the head of
Pottergate is a fower, in imitation of that of St. Nicholas, in
Newcastle, built at the expence of the borough, in 1786: it
was intended for a ring of bells; but since made a clock-house. - -
Here are two free-schools ; one of them for the classics, founded
in 1687, rebuilt in 1741, and endowed with certain tolls : also
two charity schools ; and one on Lancaster’s system, inscribed
thus in its front: ¢ For the cducation of 200 poor boys, this
school was erected and founded by Huen, Duke or Nor-
THUMBERLAND, on the twenty-fifth day of October, 1810; in
commemoration df our sovereign, George the Third, having oh
that day completed the fiftieth year of his reign.”” The
church, which is dedicated to St. Ma.l;y and St. Michael, is
Gothic, 150 feet by 52. In the south aisle are three ancient
recumbent effigies of persons unknown. The chancel is sup-
ported by two rows of elegant fluted pillars, with flowered ca-
pitals ; and has a large open space behind the altar. Near the
town, in 172G, were found on a quarry head, about twenty
-mwords, sixteen spear heads, and forty celts; and on the face
of the rock above them was rudely cut a date, 1115.

ALxwick CastLE,the principal seat of his grace the Duke of
Northumberland, belonged to William Tyson, a Saxon baron,who
wasslain in the battle of Ilastings ; and whose daughter, and pos-
sessions,were given by the conqueror to Ivo de Vesco, one of his

02 followers.

cloaths shiftcd, they ride the hounds of the moor, attended by the two oldest
{uhabitants as guides; each of the newly-initiated alighting from his horse
every quartcr of a mile, to cast a stone wpon the boundary cairms or
kirocks. This road, which is about twelve miles, is over many dangerous
precipices. T'radition assigns this custom to a capricious mandate of

King Jobn.
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memorable siege against Malcolm, King of Scots, and his
son, Prince Edward, both of whom were slain before it.®
William the Third, of Scotland, was taken prisoner here in
1174 King John burnt it down in 1216. After 1810, it un-
derwent 3 thorough repair. The two octagonal towers were
asdded to the old Saxon gateway, in the inner ward, in 1350,
as is apparent from the numerous shields upon them. It con-
sists of three wards, and countains within its outer walls about
five acrvs.  The walis are flanked with sixteen towers, most of
which are fitted up in 2 styie as suitable to their architecture
as it cvavenient with modern manners. The battlements of
the towers are embellishad with grotesque figures of warriors,
vy of them sociem, others added by the late duke, who,
on his aceession to the estate, restored the whole of the edifice
from & ruin te its present magnificence.  The saloon in the
citadel is forty-two feet by thirty-nine, and ornamented with
picturcs of the nioth, teath, and eleventh Ecrls of Northum-
berland.  The Grawing-room is forty-six feet by thirty-five ;
and the dixizg-rvem fifty-four feet by twenty-one, exclusive of
a circular rocess, ninetecen feet in diameter. The chapel is
ity feet by tweaty-one, ceiled in the manner of King’s College,
in Cambridgy, the walls painted like the great church of Milan,
and the windows of painted glass of great lightness and ele-
gance.

ALxwick ABBEY, sweetly seated on the northern margin of
the Alne, was the first house of the Premonstratensians in
England: they settled at it in 1147, when Eustace Fitz John,
who took the surname of Vescy, gave them a foundation
charter and rich endowments. Its abbot was frequently sum-
moned to parliament. In 153+ it was valued at 1891, 15s. and
was granted to Sadler and Winnington in 1549. The Brand-

lings

" ® A cross was erected, in 1774, by the Duchess of Northumberland, on
the place where Malcolm fell, her grace being lincally descended from
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lings made it their scat several years, and after them the
Doubledays, by whose heirs its scite was lately sold to the
Duke of Northumberland. A gateway tower of it remains, on
which are armorial shields of the Percys, crosses, and a niche
richly crowned with open Gothic work. St. Leonard’s Hospi-
tal, in Alnwick, was granted to it by Lord Percy, in 1875.
The chronicle of this abbey is in King’s College Library, Cam-
bridge.

HuLNE ABBEY stands in a woody and delightful solitude, in
Hulne Park, three miles above Alnwick. Among the English
barons who went to the IHoly Wars, in the time of Henry the
Third, were William Lord Vescy, and Ralph Gray. In a
wvisit to Mount Carmel, they found among its monks one Ralph
Fresburn, a Northumberland gentleman, who had signalized
himself in & former crusade, and whom they intreated the su-
perior of the monastery to permit to return with them: their
request was granted, on condition that they founded a house
for Carmelites at home. After their return, Fresburn, it is
said, fixed upon this spot, from its striking resemblance to
Mount Carmel, and, at his own expence, began to lay the
foundations of this abbey in 1240; it was endowed by the
Lords of Alnwick. John Bale, the biographer, lived and
studied here. Its outer walls and gateways arc still very en-
tire; but its numerous chapels, oratories, and offices, are much
dilapidated. The most perfect part of it is a fine tower, which
was fitted up in the Gothic style, by the late duke: on the
wall adjoining is this inscription, in old English letters, in
relief :—

XX
Tn the year of Crist Jhu m.cccc.ii & viii*
‘T'his towr was bilded by_Sir l:[cn. Percy
'The fourth erle of Northuberlad of gret honr & worth
"I'hat espoused Maud y* good lady full of virtue & bewty
Paugter to Sir Willm Herbert, right noble & hardy
04 Erle

® Anno 1468, ahout the time he was restored to his father's posscssions
and earldom. Sce Coll. Pees. VI. 702,
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Erle of Pembroch wi:ose sou's s god save
And with bis grace coscrve y* buildr of this towr.

Howicx wasa manor of the Muschamp barony, in Henry
the Third’s reign, and afterwards engrafted upon that of Wil-
lam de Vescy, of whom it was held by Adam Rybaud, by
service of one knight’s fee.* Huntercombie, one of the repre-
sentatives of the Muschamps, however, died seized of half of
i, either in 1313 or 1317. Sir Ralph Grey, of Chillingham,
held a mediety of it in the reign of Henry the Eighth ; and the
whoiv of it was possessed by his descendant, John Grey, Esq.
i 1701, whese son, Henry, was created a baronet in 1746 ;
died in 1759 and was succeeded in his title and property by
M eldest son Heary, at whose decease, in 1808, Howick
descendd to Mis nephew Ciarles Grey, Earl Grey, and Fic-
eewsd Mowa:\ who for many vears distinguished himself for
his wmitorm opposkion to Mr. Pitt’s administration ; and, as
the tirst Lord of the Adwiralty, became a colleague in govern-
meat weh Mr. Fox. The @ Uttle pile,” or tower of Howick,
mentioned by Lelsnd, © was emtered,” says Wallis, “ by a
ficht of geps, and was 3 fair structure, to the end of which,
the fire Siv Heory Grey bodt a large handsome house, and
elogant offices.”  This pile was taken down in 1787, when the
presont noble structure was commenced. Payne and cther
architeets gave designs for it: but it was chiefly executed
under the direction of Mr. Newton, of Newcastle. Its inter-
nul arrangements, furniture, and decorations, were last year
almost entirely renewed ; the wings joined to the centre by two
additions, the fronts of which form the arcs of a quadrant;
new gatewavs made; the approaches altered: and the lawn
broken into & better style. It stands within a mile of the sea.
The church, which is on the margin of a brook, that skirts the
Jawn, was built by the first baronet, though he was not its

and is an edifice of great neatness, without a tower,
fiat roofed, and in the Greek style.

CRASTER.
¢ Test de Nev. 384
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CrasTER. William de Craucestr’ held Craucestr’, in 1272,
=»f the barony of John le Viscount, by the service of half a
Mxnight’s fee, and at present it is the seat and manor of his
3K ineal descendant Shafloe Craster, Esq. The hall, which is
“WRbuilt of basalt, stands in a deep grove of forest trees, and has
line sea views through the chasms of a bold chain of broken.
mrocks, that run between it and the shore. The grounds about
=t are kept exceedingly neat and trim. The village of Craster,
=on an inlet of the sea, is inhabited by fishermen.

Du~NsSTANBROUGH was a manor and estate of Prince Ed-
wund, Earl of Lancaster, whose son Thomas obtained a
licence, in 1315, to make a castle of his manor-house in this
place. He was the most powerful and opulent subject in Eu-
rope in his time; but becoming general of the confederate
army that opposed Edward the Third, he was beheaded, and
afterwards canonized. This estate and fortress were restored
to his brother, and continued in the Lancastrian house till
after the battle of Hexham, when certain of Queen Margaret’s
adherents, namely, Sir Richard Tunstall, Thomas Findern,
Dr. Morton, and others, with 120 men, continuing within it

in arms, it was besieged by Lords Wenlock, Hastings, and
two others, with a large force, and, after three days assault,
was taken, and battered into ruins, in which state it has ever
since continued. It stands upon a high whinstone rock, acces-
sible on the south, but naturally defended by a rocky declivity
on the west, and by the sea and abrupt frightful precipices on
the ewst and north. Nothing at present remains of it but its
outworks, which are in the form of a crescent, and chiefly

* consist of the shsll of the keep, on the highest ground on the
west; of a strong giwomy gateway, defended by two large
round towers ; and of three square towers in the southern wall,
Its area contains about nine acres ; and, in one year, is said to
have produced 240 Winchester bushels of corn, besides several

loads of hay. Hexangular crystals, called Dunstanbrough
diamonds,
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diamonds, are sometimes found here, which are not inferior te
those of Bristol in hardness and lustre.

The village of Dunstan is celebrated as the birth-place of
Duxs Scorus, the famous opposer of Aquinas. In one of his
MS. works, are these words :—* Explicit lectura Doctoris Sub-
tiles in Universitate Oxoniensi super quartum librum sententia-
rum, scilicet, Domini Johannis Duns, nati in quadam villula paro-
chi de Emylton, vocata Dunstan, in Comitatu Northumbrie,
pertinente domui Scholerum de Merton Hall in Oxonia, et quon-
dam socii dictze domus.” This place belongs to Merton Collcge
to this day.

In this parish also is FaALLowbex Housk, the scat of the
late Earl Grey, which he inherited from his mother, who was
an hciress, of the name of Wood. His lordship signalized
himself, as a general, in America, and in the West Indies;
and was crcated a peer of the realm, by the title of Baron
Grey de Howick, in 1801 ; and of Earl Grey, Viscount Howick,
in 1806. At present it is in posscssion of the Countess Dowa-
ger Grey. :

« The Iarn Islands,” says Pennant, ¢ form two groups of
little isles.and rocks, to the number of seventeen; but at low
water the points of others appear above the surface. They are
rented for 16l per annum: their produce is kelp, some few
feathers, and a few seals, which the tenant watches and shoots,
for the sake of the oil and skins, Some of them yield a little
grass. The nearest isle to the shore is called House Island,
which lies exactly one mile and sixty-eight chains from the
coast. On this sequestered spot St. Cuthbert spent the two
last ycars of his life.” Here was afterwaeds established a
priory for six benedictine monks, subordinate to Durham. It
was valued, in 1531, at 12l 175, ¥d. ‘The remains of it are
sadly shattered. Part of the square tower, which Leland says
was built by ¢ Prior Castel of Durham, the last save one,”
is still standing. There is a light house here, and a well of fine
fresh water.

ErLriNGciam
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has a cross-legged figure in it, called, by tradition, Sir Lance-
lot du Lake ; monuments of the Forsters; and old armour sus-
pended from the chancel roof. Lord Crewe’s trustees have
lately made great improvements here, by building cottages on
uniform plans. :

In this neighbourhood, at Spindeston, is a camp, nearly
round, with a triple ditch and rampart, and two exploratory
hills on the south, and one on the north.” A little west is
another, in the form of a crescent, triple trenched, and with
ramparts of uncemented stones. There is a ballad called, the
Laidley Worm, of Spindleston Heugh, said to be 500 years old,
and composed by Duncan Frazier, a Cheviot bard, in 1270.
The camp at Out Chester, is square, and,. as its form and name
indicate, of Roman origin.

EppERsTONE, in Bamburgh parish, was the seat of Sir Tho-
mas Forster, Knight, in the reign of Henry the Eighth, and of
his descendants, till the year 1763, when it went into the
Bacon family, who built the present mansion, and sold it
lately to J. Pratt, Esq.

BELTORD

was a manor of the barony of Wooler; and after male issue
failed in the Muschamps, was held in medietics, from the time
of Edwurd the First to the tenth of Elizabeth, by the families
of Graham, Huntercombie, Lylburne, Meinells, D’Arcy, and
Conyers. The Forsters possessed it in 1638 ; and after being
sold by the descendants of Abraham Dixon, Esq. who resided
upon it in 1759, it was lately purchased by William Clarke,
Esq. The mansion-house was built from designs of' Payne ;
but has suffered much from neglect. The chapel is parochial
under Bamburgh; it was builtin 1700; or the bells hang, as in
many parts of Scotland, on a frame on the outside of the
gable.””  The old chapel is in ruins on an adjoining hill. The

town
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for the service, &c.”’* It belonged to the crowm, in 1567
but being granted to a branch of the Widdrington family, their
heiress carried it to Sir Thomas Gascoigne, who sold it to the
Clenaels, its present possessors: their mansion is a modera
building, at the east end of the vilage. In 1178, this fortress
was sacked by the Scots ;4 after which it was rebuilt, and se
strongly fortified, that a Scotch army, in 1296, besieged i
two days in vain; after the battle of Bannock Burn, however,
they succeeded more to their wishes, and again demolished it.
It was the retirement of Queen Margaret, of Scotland, on her
second marriage to the Earl of Angus, and here was bora, in
1518, her daughter Margaret, afterwards married to the Ear
of Lenox.f It is boldly seated on the southern brink of the
Coquet; and its ruins are of large extent. The walls of the great
tower have an odd appearance, parts of them being rent asun-
der from their foundations, and overhanging their base ; and
other parts having slidden in large masses, halfway down the
hill, and fixed themselves deep in the earth.

BippLesTON, the seat of Thomas Selby, Esq. is seated at the
head of a gradual slope, at the foot of Silverton, a high green-
mountain, and one of the most southern of the chain of the
Cheviots. It belonged to the Vissards, whom Edward the First,
on account of their treasonable proceedings, deprived of it, in
1272, and gave to Sir Walter de Selby ¢ pro bono et laudabili
servitio.””§  His successor, Sir Walter, was governor of Liddle
castle, in 1342, in which year the fortress was taken by David,
King of Scots, and its governor beheaded. This family was
also possessed of the barony and manor of Prenderlath, on the
opposite border.|| Their scat here is a large and commodieus

stone edifice, built by its present possessor.
P2 EprLingaax

* Sir R. Sad. St. Pap. ii. 15.
t Ridp. Bord. Hiat. p. 98. ¢ Kbighton int. x. Scrip. Ang. col. 1296.
§ Original Grant at Biddleston.
§ Charter in Gateshead Vestry, Duthaw.
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2o cultivate the wastes of Northumberland. At that tjm
Cuthbert, by a vision, revealed to the Abbot Edred, th
bishop, and all the English and Danes, should be commanc
‘ransom Guthred, the son of Ardecnute, who had been 1
slavery to a widow, at Whittingham, and should make him
of Northumberland ; which was done, and he reigned
York, but Egbert beyond the Tyne.”* This village wi
‘ciently held in sergeancy of the king, by drengage servic
has a fair on the twenty-fourth of August; its.church is
form, old, and spacious ; and the vale jn which it stands u

and elegaat edifice, of polished free-stone, and in the n

style. It belonged to Alan de Eslington, in the time of

the Third, of whom he held it by certain local services, |
species of sergeancy ; from this family it passed to the k
rigges, and from them to the Collmgwoodl, with whom it.
tinued from the sixteenth to the aghteenth .century ; \
Colonel George Liddell, a younger son of Sir Thomas Lidaey,
of Ravensworth, Bart. bought it of the commissioners for
selling estates, forfeited in the rebellion, in 1715, and left it to
his nephew, Henry Lord Ravensworth.

CALLALY was the seat of William de Callaly, who held it
and Yetlington, by drengage and other.services, of Henry the
Third: his son Gilbert gave them to Roger Fitz-Roger, Baron
of Warkworth and Clavering, from whom they have beem
handed down to his lineal descendant, John Clavering, Esgr
their present possessor. The tower, at the west end of this
mansion, has marks of high antiquity; that on the east, and
the centre of the building, are modern. The dinipg room ig

’ P33 fortyo

* Chron. de Mailros, p. 143.  Sim. Dum. col, 147.
t Test. de Nev, 889, 393, '
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forty-five feet long, and twenty-five feet high, elegantly stuc-
coed, and has a music gallery at each end. A range of high
rough hills, planted up their sides, and brown and craggy at
their heads, sweep before the southern front, at the distance of
half 2 mile.

Near Callaly is a conical hill, called CasTie Hire; its
top, comprising about two acres, is girt by a high wall, and, in
the weakest places, by a foss seven yards deep, hewn out of
the solid rock, and flanked on the outside with a wall. Down
the western brow of the hill, about one hundred paces, is
another strong wall, its ruins measuring seven yards and a
half at their base. The whole fortified area contains nearly
six acres, and is difficult of access. There are several other
ancicat camps in this neighbourhood.

Graxtox Pixe is also a conical exploratory hill, in sight
of the curious civcular camps, on the tops of Clinch Hill and
Frgram Hill. Near it, at Deerstreet, beside Glanton West-
field, were found, in 1716, four kstraens, one empty, the
other containing ezch an urn, filled with fine earth, charcosl,
and human bones, bearing marks of fire: also near them, two
more urns of ondinary pottery. North of Glanton West-field

-a quarter of a mile, a celt, of the old mixed brass, well pre-
terved, was turned up, and given to Mr. Wallis. By the side
of the highway, over Hedgley Moor, is a square stone pillar,
called Percy’s Cross, embossed with the arms of Percy and
Lucy, and sct up in memory of Sir Ralph Percy, .who was slain
here by Lord Montacute, in a severe skirmish, m 1463, before
the battle of Hexham. His dving words were, 7 have saved
the bird i vy breast 2 meaning his faith to his party.

" The mansion at Roppam was built by the late Admiral
Roddum, on the scite of the old family residence. John
Mujd'r, who flourished in the beginning of the sixteenth cen-
ﬁky;'melitinm' the following curious grant, as much adinired
hy Robert, Duke of Albany, for its brevity :—
“1 King
® Hist. Brit, &¢.p 265.
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¢ I King Athelstane

Giffis heir to Paulane

‘Odam and Rodam

Als gnd and als fair

Als evir tha myn ware

And yair to Witnen Mald my wyff.”

The battle of Brunanburch, so much extolled by the his.
torians and poets of that age, is supposed by Camden to have
been fought near Broomridge, a mile from Ford castle, where
are the lines of a large encampment; and this grant may have
been made by Athelstane, in consequence of services there
performed. The Testa. de Nevill, mentions this manor as &
member of the barony of the Earl of Dunbar; but is silent
respecting the family, though their names occur in the escheats
for the year 1264, as possessors of it. They were a warlike
family.* Leland calls them “men of fair landes in Northum-
brelande, about Tylle river, ontyl one of them having to wife
one of the Umfraville daughters, killed a man of name, and
thereby lost the principle of pccc markes by yere: so that
at this time Rodam, or otherwise Rudham, of Northumbrelande,
is but a man of mene lands.”

Near ILpERTON, the manor and seat of Sanderson Ilderton,
Esq., and of his ancestors, since the time of Edward the First,
is Rosedon Edge, on which is a large square entrenchment ;
and in sight of it, three miles to the east, on Bewick Hill, is
a semicircular camp, its chord on the west, guarded by an
abrupt declivity, overlooking the plains of the Bramish, and
its arc by a double foss and vallum ; the entrance on the south’
is by a hollow way, hemmed on one side by large stones, set
edgewise in the earth. At Haerup-burn, half a mile farther to
the east, is a smaller semicircular camp, a kind of out-post to
Bewick Hill. Neat Three-stone Burn, north of Hedge-hope,
one of the highest of the Cheviot mountains, is a Druidioal

P4 Circle,

* See Lel. Colect. and Coll. Peerage, VI. 652.
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the battle of  Geteringe,” fought here in 1414, between the
English, under Sir Robert Humfranville and the Lord Warden
of the Marches, and a strong party of the Scotch, in which the
latter were discomfited.*

Above this village rises Yeverinc BEeLL, a green bell-shaped
mountain, two thousand perpendicular feet from the plain.
Its top s level, and girt with a wall of large whinstones, en-
closing an area of above sixteen acres. The entrance is on
the south. In the east side of it, a paved way, thrce paces
broad, and thirty yards long, leads to & low circular mouat, girt
with a slight wall, one hundred and eighty paces in circum~
ference, and with a ditch within; its centre is crowned with &
cairn of stones, ten paces high, the middle hollow, and six
paces from brim to brim, and the stones beneath it calcined
with fire. The tides of this mountain arc scattered with cir-
cular foundations of small buildings, such as are seen by the
margin of the higher parts of the Coquet, and through all the
Cheviot district. South of the Bell halfa mile, is 2 cairn called
T¥m Tallon’s grave. On Newton Tor, a very high hill, are en-
trenchments and a cairn ; and on Haerlaw, near Mr. Selby’s seat,
at PasTow, a camp, girt with a round double rampire and foss.

CoreLAND CASTLE was rebuilt, in 1614, by George Wal.
lace, Bsq., to whose family it belonged, from Edward the Se-
cond’s reign, till it was sold in the last century, to the Ogles
of Kirkley.+ It stands on the north brink of the Glen.
One John de Copeland was amongst the twelve English knights,
chosen to meet the Scotch commissioners, to settle the certain
border disputes, in 1249; and we suspect, that the celcbrated
Northumberland Esquire, John de Copcland, was of this family.
He took David, King of Scots, prisoner, in the battle of Dur-
ham, in 1347, for which he was created a knight baneret, and
had 500l a year settled upon himself and heirs.}

Fors
* Harding, c. 21%2. t Wallis, I1. 480.

$ Prymne’s 4th Inst. p. 245. Leges Margh, p. 2. Burn and Nich. Hist.
of Westm. and Cumberl. Vol. 1. p. 36.
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that village ; but commonly the battle of FLoDDEN; because the:
Scots were encamped on Flodden Hill, and from thence drawn

out of their entrenchments to fight, by the Earl of Surrey
secretly marching through the narrow defiles about Crookham,
and cutting off their retreat. Among the slain was the Arch-

bishop of St. Andrew’s and two bishops, four abbots, twelve,
earls, seventeen lords, innumerable knights and gentlemen,

and from eight, or, as some say, twelve thousand common
men. The English only lost about fifteen hundred : their suc-

cess was attributed to their artillery and bowmen. King James

fell near Branxton, and was next day found by Lord Dacre.

On the highest part of Flodden Hill is 8 natural rock, called

the King’s Chair, whence he had a good view of the two ar-

mies and the country. The standards and ordnance were next

day carried to Etal. James’s corpse was embalmed at Berwick,

snd brought to England, and buried at Sheene, where, at the

dissolution, it was tumbled into a lumber-room. . His sword

and dagger were given to the Herald’s College, where they now

are. Surrey deposited the Scotch standards in Durham Cathe-

dral. As Sir Carnaby Haggerston’s workmen were digging ‘in

Flodden Field, in 1810, they came to a pit filled with human

bones, and which seemed of great extent; but, alarmed at the

sight, they immediately filled up the excavation, and proceeded

no farther. A fine seal, supposed to be Roman, was found here,

and was in the possession of the late Countess Cowper.*

The village of WERK stands on the margin of the Tweed,
and chiefly consists of a miserable cluster of thatched cottages,
occupied by fishermen, most of whom are freeholders. The
CasTLE here, 80 celebrated in the border annals, is completely
ruined, nothing remaining of it but fragments of ashlar
work, near its foundations, and lines of its moat. It stood on a.
round hill, apparently artificial. Below it is a beautiful terrace
on the brink of the river, called the Maiden’s Walk. The
Kemb, or outwork, is an intrenchment half a mile long, con-
sisting
* Hors, Biit. Rom. p. 75. :






NORTHUMBERLAND. 998

with 1000 men, on the defection of Robert de Ros; and had
his court here at Easter, 1295.* ¢ The Scottes, in 1318, came.
into Eogland, and destroyed the castells of Wark and Har-.
bottle”” In 1841, the garrison sallied out upon the rear of
David Bruce’s army, as they returned from ravaging Durham,
aad took 160 horses laden with spoil ; a circumstance whiek
breught on & desperate siege, in which the celebrated Countess
of Salisbury greatly distinguished herself: Froisart has re-
lated this affair with his usual minuteness and gallantry. In
1884 the castle was burnt down, but soon after rebuilt ; and in
1419 retaken by the Scots, and its garrison butchered: a deed
which the English revenged, by creeping up a sewer from the
Tweed into the kitchen, and shedding blood for blood. Im
1460, it again fell into the hands of the Scotch, who deme-
lished it. After being repaired by the Earl of Surrey, it was
gallantly defervled, in 1528, against 4000 Scotch and French,
who made breaches in the wals with cannon. The historian, .
Buchsnan, who was presens at this siege, describes it thus¢
“ In the innemuost area was a tower of great strength and
beight ; this was encircled by two walls, the outér includiug &
large space, into which the inhabitants of the country used to
fly with their cattle, corn, and flocks in time of war j the inner
of much smaller extent, but fortified more strongly with walls
and towers.” ‘ As a good pece of its wall was fallen down in
1543, one Archan, an Italyan, was employed to repair it.”’}
The work was commenced on the twelfth of February, and
finished on the teath of November, in the same year, and cost
18641. 16s 7d.1 ‘

At Brigham, near Wark, was held the great convention fot
settlement of the teaths for the Holy War, demanded by Hexry
the Second, in 1188, Hugb, Bishop of Durkam, sppeared én
Henry’s party, and was met by William the Second of Scotland,

with
* Prynpes 41k Inst, 357.
+ Lodge’s Hlust. of Brit, Hist. L. 50. $ Bodlean MS, 6866. 18.
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The church had three chantries in it:- only the middle aisle of
it is standing. In some old foundations at its east end, a stone,
with curious inscriptions, and the effigies of St. Peter, St. Cuth-
bert, and King Ceolwulf, its patrons, was discovered. The
castle stands on & high rock, on the brink of the Tweed. It
was built by Bishop Frambard, in 1121 ; but the Scots, under
King David, in 1188, took and destroyed it. Hugh Pudsey
" soon after rebuilt it, particularly the great tower, which is still
standing : the crown took it from the see of Durham during
part of his prelacy. Kings Jobn and William had four confe-
rences here: one of them respecting a castle at Tweedmouth,
which John had twice attempted to build, but which the Lion
as often destroyed. Alexander the Second, after investing it
forty days with a mighty army, in 1216, was obliged to raise
the siege. Edward the First resided here, and held a2 confe-
rence with the nobility and clergy of Scotland ; and afterwards
called a parliament, in 1291, on Uplington Green, on the op-
posite side of the Tweed, to settle his claim to Scotland, ¢n
the death of Margaret of Norway: after this, John Baliol
swore fealty to him in this castle. It was twice besieged by
the Scots in Edward the Second’s reign, and at length taken;
but recovered in 1322. In the night of Edward the Third’s
coronation it was unsuccessfully assaulted, but forced by storm
in the next year. Bishop Fox put it into good repair; but it
suffered much in the siege immediately before the battle of
Flodden Field. In Henry the Eighth’s reign it was again
taken ; but recovered by Franklin, Archdeacon of Durham,
-Bishop Tunstal repaired it in the reign of Queen Mary. Cam-
den had his information respecting it from Dr. George Charl-
ton,* who was born here whilst his father was keeper of the
Vor. XII. Q castle.

® He was edncated by Bemard Gilpin, whose life he wrote ; admitted
of 8t. Edmund's Hall, Oxford, in 1576 ; one of the four English divines
sent to the council of Dort; Bishop of Landaff, in 1618 ; and Bishop of
Chichester, in 1619, where he died in 168. He wrote also, A Thaskful
Remembrance of God's Mercy, and A Confutation of Judical Astrelogy.
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so destitute of every thing like military strength, and so finely
executed, as to make us believe they have been of an agricul-
tural nature ; perhaps the gardens of some peaceful monarch, in
an obscure period of the history of our country. Their east end
extends to the medicinal spring, which was probably once connect-
éd with them. Josephus intimates, that much of the husbandry
of the Jews was of this nature. The terraces near Branxton,
mentianed by Pennant, are perhaps of a similar kind.

ISLANDSHIRE.

- Opposite to the mouth of the brook Lindis, lies Linpis-
FARNE, called by the Britains, Inis Medicante, and by the
English, Holy Island, from being the residence of several of
the fathers of the Saxon church. Fahren, in Celtic, means
arecess. King Oswald, in 635, made it a bishop’s see; and
Aiden, a Scotchman, its first prelate. The church was en-
larged in 652; but, * more Scottorum,’” only made of timber,
and thatched. Eadberct, who was bishop about ten years, and
died in 698, took off the thatch, and covered all the roof and
walls with sheets of lead. In 793, the Danes made their first
descent here ; and their second, in 875, in the episcopacy of
Eardulf, the seventeenth, and last of its bishops. Dreading the
visits of these pagan ‘barbarians, Eardulf, with Eadred, the
sbbot of the monastery, and the inhabitants of the island, took
up the body of St. Cuthbert, and the most valuable of their
relics and sacred utensils, and left it to the fury of the in-
vaders. After wandering about from one hiding-place to an-
other, for the space of seven years, they at last settled at
Chester-le-Street, where eight bishops presided, before the
final removal of the see to Durham.

¢ St. Cuthbert, who from a poor shepherd became monk of

Melros fifteen years, was prior here twelve more, when he re-
tired to the Farne Island; from whence he was called to this

see,
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It stands upon a lofty whinstone rock, on the south-east corner.
In 1544, his majesty expressed his pleasure ¢ with the repayr-
ing of the blocke house in the Holy Island.’* William Reede
was captain of this and the Farne Island, in 1559 ; the monthly
expence of the garrisons of which, at that time, was 28l. 4s. 8d.}
Parliament garrisoned it as a ¢ place of consequence to the
northern parts,” in 1646 ; and, in 1715, one Itincelot Erring-
ton, in a romantic manner, seized it for the Pretender. A
garrison, from Berwick, is kept in it at present.

The parish of Holy Island is also called ISLANDSHIRE; it
contains the chapelries of Kyloe, Lowick, Ancooft, and Tweed-
mouth ; and, in all civil matters, is included in the county of
Durham. ¢ At KiLEY, primis annis Henrici viii. not far from
Norham, in the lordship of the Bishop of Durham, was found,
betwixt two stones, bokels of an arming girdle, typpe and
barres of the same, of pure gold; a pornel, and crosse, for a
sword of gold; bokels and typps of gold, for spurs. D. Ru-
thall had some of them.” }

HaAcGeRsTON, is the seat of Sir Carnaby Haggerston, Bart.
and of his ancestors, since the time of Edward the First.§
Thomas, who was a colonel in the Northumberland regiment,
in the civil wars, was created a baronet in 1643. The mansion
house stands in a thick grove: the oldest part is a tower, to
which two additions have been made, and in which Edward the
Second received the homage of Thomas, Earl of Lancaster,
for the earldom of Lincoln, in 1311. Hard by are ruins of an
old Chapel.

TwEEDMOUTH is a considerable village, on the north side of
the Tweed, opposite to Berwick. It has a chapel belonging to
the establishment, and a Presbyterian meeting-house. All
traces of the castle King John attempted to build here, are obli-

' terated.
* Lodge’s Illust. of Brit. Hist. V. I. p. 50.
t Sadler's St. Papers, Vol. I. p. €.
 Lel. VIL 71, § Test. de Nev. p.53. °
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Eoglish king, says Knighton, fortified it with a wall and a foss,
and-in the same year received the homage of the scotch nobi-
lity bere, on the twenty-fourth of August, before an English
parliament. The town, in 1297, was taken by Sir William
Wallace, through neglect of Cressingham, its governor ; but the
castle held out, and after a long assault, was relieved by a
large army of horse: Wallace about eight years after this was
betrayed, and half of his body exposed upon Berwick-bridge.
The Countess of Buchan, for crowning Robert Bruce at Scone,
was shut up here in a wooden cage, in the shape of a crown,
and ordered to be attended by two English women : she lived
in it six years, and was then released. Edward the Second
and his queen wintered at Berwick* in 1310; and two years after,
Robert Bruce made an unfortunate attempt to obtain it by a
scalade in the night. The English King assembled his army
here before the battle of Bannockburn; and, three days after
il, issued a proclamation from hence respecting his privy seal,
‘which had been lost in that sanguinary conflict. Peter Spalding
betrayed this place into the hands of Robert Bruce in 1318:
many attempts were made to recover it, which was not effected
till the day after the battle of Halledon-Hill in 1333. Edward
the Third was here in 1335 ; with a great army, in 1340 ; and
the year after, at Easter, beld a tournament ; but, in his absence
in France, in November 1353, the Scots surprized and took
the town : the castle, under the renowned Sir John Copeland,
beld out till Edward, on the 14thof February following, arrived

Vou. XII. Q* with

@ Berwick, or BeNnpIC; in Doomsday-book, and in the old language of our
country, has nearly the same signification, as grange, granary, and barn,
meaning a place for laying up the produce of a farm doring winter. Bere,
to this day is a provincial name of barley, the liquor of which is called bear.
Ingulphus says, that Berwick is equivalent to manor. Some derive it from the
Celtic word aber, water; others from Bruicia, asif it had been a principal
town of that kingdom ; and others from bare, as descriptive of the nakeduess
of its situation, Wic is the same as Vic-us, dwelling, town, or village.
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with a great army, and forced the Scotch to capitulate. Seven
Scotchmen, in 1377, surprised the castle, and beld it eight
days against 7000 archers and 8000 cavalry. The deputy-
goveroor, under the Earl of Northumberland, betrayed it into
the enemy’s bands in 1384 ; but the ea1l by menaces and bribery
soon after recovered it: this high spirited lord, however,
through the solicitation of bis uncle the Earl of Worcester, en-
gaging in the rebellion against Heury the Fourth, in 1406, em-
ployed this, amongst other fortresses, against the king; but a
eannon-shot,” the first that was ever fired in England, so alarmed
the garrison, that it immediately surrendered. An unsuccessful
sttempt was made to reduce it in 1422 ; but, after the battle
of Towton, in 1459, it was again in the hands of the Scots,
who strengthened its walls at great expence, and beld it till
1482, when it again came into possession of the English, in
whose hands it has ever since continued. ‘“ From that time,”
says Camden, ¢ the kings of England bave continually added
works to it, particularly queen Elizabeth, who lately, to the
torror of the enemy, and security of the townspeople, con-
tracted the circuit of the walls, drawing within the old
ones a very high wall, well built of strong stone, surround-
ed by a deep ditch, a regular rampart, redoubt, counter-
scarps, and covered ways, so that the form and streugth of the
fortifications sre sufficient to discourage all hopes of carrying it
by assault, not to mention the bravery of the garrison, and the
stores in the pluce which exceed belief.,” In 1559 the garrison
consisted of only 2000 men, which, according to Lord Trea-
surer Cecil’s opinion, should be increased to 3 or 4000 more ;

¢ and,

® Walsingham and Speed relate that his shot was of a large sise, and de-
molished great part of a tower. In the spring of 1811, & ball of cast iron,
weighing ninety-siz pounds, was found in a part of the ruins of the castle, which
answers well to Walsingham’s account. It had penetrated the castle wall
about three yards, at a place where it was flanked with a tower, which of course

must bave been first penctrated, and of which thers are sufficicnt remaiss to
ascertain this fact,
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the First, who commenced the present elegant structure of
stone. It has fifteen arches; its whole leugth being 388 yards;
and its breadth seventeen feet. It was twenty-four years, four
months, and four days in buildiug, and finished on the twenty.
fourth of October, 1634. It was built by Mr. James Burreil
and -Lancelot Branxton, end cost government the sum of
14,9601. 1s. 6d. The 10,000l. paid to the crown for confirma-
tion of the will of Thomas Sutton, founder of the Charter~
House, was aleo applied towards rebuilding this edifice.

The Town Hall was bailt by Joseph Doudd, architect, in 175&
On its ground floor, on the east side, is & piazza, called the
Exchange ; and opposite it, are cells for criminals, and shops. The
second floor consists of two spacious halls and other apartments,
The outer hall measures sixty feet by thirty-one, and is used for
bolding courts and guilds. The inner ball is 47 feet long and
28 feet broad, and occasionally occupied at assemblies and
public entertainments. The upper story is the common gaol of
the town. Tlie roof is covered with slate and lead, and the
whole edifice elegantly finished by a turret 150 feet high, and
containing eight musical bells.

CorroraTioN.—Berwick appears to have been one of tho
original four Scotch burghs. Its first charter was granted by
Edward the First, who required its Mayor to be sworn before
his Chancellor, Treasurer, and Barons of the Exchequer of
Scotland.* The seal of the corporation is a bear standing upon
a tree, with this inscription : Sigllum dmi Henrici dei gri.
reg. Angliz et Franciz & dmi Hiberniz de terra sua ultra
tuedm. The corporation were first summoned to send mem-
bers to parliament in the latter end of the reign of Edward
the Fourth, from which time, to the first of Edward the Sixth»
the returns are all lost, except an imperfect bundle of the thirty~
third of Henry the Eighth. The last charter of this town was

granted

* Barrow’s Reports.
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and bandsome ; for they think them in no danger from an enemy,
pot considering violence offered to women as any barm. Eneas,
therefore, remained alone with them with two servants, and a
guide, and 100 women, whomade a circle round the fire, and
sat the rest of the night without sleeping, dressing hemp and
chatting with the interpreter. Night was now far advanced,
. when a great noise was heard by the barking of dogs, and scream-
g of the geese, all the women made the best of their way off,
the guide getting away with the rest, and there was as much
confusion, as if the enemy was at hand. /Eaeas thought it
more prudent to wait the event in his bed-room (which bap-
pened to be a stable) apprebending if he went out he might
mistake his way, and be robbed by the first he met. And soon
aftec the women came back with the interpreter, and reported
there was no danger ; for it was a party of friends and not of
enemies that were come,*”
® Camden.

LEXD OF NORTHUMBERLAND,
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«JouN, who was sirnamed Sanz-terre, sixt sonne of Heary
the Second ; which John he made Earle of Moreton (or Mar-
tayne) and gave him this castle and honour of Notingham,
whom had before a castle seated upon an hill near to Mari, in
the county of Wiltsh: (now called Marleburgh) and lastly was
King of this realm.* After this it was granted to the ancient
family of the Mowbrays ; first to

«JouN Mousray, + 27th of Edward the 3d, who was slaine
in the Holy Land by the Turks. anno. XLII of Edw. IIL He
married Elizabeth daughter and heire of John Lord Segrave
who assumed the surname of Segrave, from a lordship in Lei~
cestersh : their son

« Jounx Mowsgay, created Earle at the coronation of king
Richard the Second, and IL of his reign. f He was one that
entered Scotland, with his joint forces, and died the sixst of
Richard the 2d at London, without issue and was huried there.

“Taomas Mowsray his brother, succeeded, being nexs
heire, and was created Earle of Notingham by Richard the
second, the VII of the said King’s reigne. Hee with ather
Barons entered Scotland with an army of Spearmen and Archers ;
and in the IX of his reign, He constituted the said Thomas Earle
Marshall of England, - for term of life ; whose loyalty and great
service for his King and countrey, the French and Spaniards
both knew ; also he attended king Richard into Ireland, the
XVIII of his reigne. He was the first that was ever honoured
by charter with the office of Earle Marshall. His first wife

wag

® On the return of Richard from the Holy Land, John refused to resign it,
and kept it in bis own bhands until be came to the Crown, in which it was
merged forsome time,

+ This Earl is not mentioned in the generallists. His ereation, if it really:
took place, must have been in 1352.
. § With this special clause that he should hold, sub honore Comitali, or as
parcel of this Earldom, all his other lands and possessions. He must have
entered early on the theatre of public life, as he died ander age, and his
brother was only seventeen ycars of age when cseated Earl in his room.
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his father’s life time) one of those noble persons, by Queen
Elisabeth made choice on for the conducting the Lady Anne of
Austria, daughter to Maximilian the Emperor from Zeland into
Spain : and XX1V April the XVI of Eliz: he was made one of
the most noble order of the Garter, being then Lord Cham-
berlayne to the Queen.* Hee was made Lord High admirall
of England anno MDLXXXVIII; he was constituted Lieute-
nant General of the Queen’s whole fleet at Sea, against the
Spaniards Armado ; also in the XXXIX of her raigne he was
dignified with the title of EArLz or NoTiNeHAM, and atthe coro-
nation of King James, he was Lord Great Steward of England
and dyed at Hayling in Kent, anno MDCXXIV. He married
Katherine daughter to Henry Lord Hunsdon (first wife) and his
second, but oldest surviving Son by her.

" «CaarLes Howarp succeeded.”’ e

Thus far says the MSS.—to which we have to add that he
maerried three wives, but had issue only by the last of them,
Margaret daughter of James the Scottish Earl of Murray. His
eldest son James, died unmarried in his father’s life time, and his
youngest

Charles Howard succeeded as Earl of Nottingham, but dying
without issue, the earldom became extinct, though the barony
of Effingham went to the ancestor of the present Earl of that
title. .

Heneage Finch, baron Finch of Daventry, was created earl
of Nottingham in the reign of Charles the second. He was son
and heir of Henegge Finch, fourth son of Sir Moyle Finch, the
twenty-fifih baronet created by King James. Sir Moyle had
married Elizabeth only daughter of Sir Thomas Heneage Knt.
Treasurer of the chamber, vice chamberlain of the household,
and chancellor of the duchy of Lancaster, in the reign of
Elizabeth, alsoa member of her Privy Council, and who would

have

¢ He was Earl twenty-seven years, and knight of the Garter during & pe-
sied of Gfty-twe.
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to Ralph de Burun, eight; to Tosti Earl of Northumberland, one,
to Godiva Countess of Mercia, four, and to Algar Earl of Mer.
cia, one, being all that was left them out of their ancient Saxon
possessions in this county.

Besides these we find from Domesday, that there were other
landholders in the county ; these were the Archbishop of York;
Bishop of Lincoln; Bishop of Bayeux; Abbot of Burgh;
Roger Pictavensis; Gilbert de Gand ; Gilbert de Tison: Iibert
de Laci; Berenger de Todeni; Hugh Fitz Baldric; Osborne
Fitz-richard ; Robert Fitz-william; and William Hostiarius, or
the usher.

To enumerate the various changes of property in succeeding
reigns would far exceed our limits; but as great part of the
Jands of this county, at different periods, came into the hande
of the church, we shall here add a list of the
_ Revicious FounpaTions.—Beauvalle, or Pulchra vallis in
Parco de Gresley, a Carthusian Priory, dedicated to the Holy
Trinity.

Bingham College.

Blythe Benedictine Priory; to the Blessed Virgin.

— Hospital ; to St. John the Evangelist.

Bradesbusk Hospital, in Gonalston Parish; to St. Mary Mag-
dalen,

Broadholm Premonstratensian Nunnery ; to the Virgin Mary.

Clifton College ; to the Holy Trinity.

Felley Austin Canons ; to the Virgin Mary.

Fiskerton upon Trent, Austin Cell; to the Virgin Mary.

Lenton Cluniac Priory ; to the Holy Trinity.

~———— Hospital ; to St. Anthony.

White Friars or Carmelites,

Marshe Benedictine Cell ; to. St Thomas,

Mattersey Gilbertine Priory ; to St. Helen,

Newark Hospital; to St. Leonard.

Hospital belonging to the Knights Templars,

dustin Friars.

Newark
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Newark Obscrvant Friars.

Newstead Austin Canons ; to the Virgin Mary.

Nottingham, St. Mary's Cell.

St. Sepulichre’s.

—— ——— Collcge.

e St. Jones’s Hospital ; to St. John the Baptist.

=—e——— St. Leonard’s Hospital.

o~ Plumtre’s Hospital; to the Annunciation of the
Virgin.

Grey Friars.

; — White Friars.

Rodyngton College.

Rufford Cistercian Abbey ; to the Virgin Mary.

Shelford Austin Priory ; to the Virgin Mary.

Sibthorpe Collegiate Foundation.

Southwell College ; to St. Mary.

~——— Hospital; to St. Mary Magdalene.

Stoke by Newark Hospital; to St. Leonard.

Thurgarton Austin Canons; to St. Peter.

Tuzford College.

Wallingwells Benedictine Nuns ; to the Blessed Virgin Mary.
Welbeck Pramonstratensian dbbey ; to St. James.

Worksop or Radford Austin Canons; to St. Mary and St

Cuthbert.*

Tl various grants of the lands belonging to the foundations
which took place at the dissolution, will be recorded under the
several heads; and with respect to the preseut occupation
and tenure, it is only necessary to say that fcw estates in the
county arc above 12,000l per annum, but the majority are
much smaller, 80 as to produce a numerous and opulent gentry,
to whom must be added a most respectable yeomanry occu-
pying their own lands.

Though Nottinghamshire boasts the residences of so many
of the highest orders of the nobility, yet it is rather surprising

thas
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places sweeping over fettile plains, in others reflecting on its
glossy surface, bigh swelling kiolls, and green feathered cliffy
that add to the sublimity of the sceme. Its scenery round
Holme Pierpoint and Radcliffe is pleasing in the extreme; it
then proceeds with rather a tortuous course through a highly
cultivated country towards Newark; where it suddenly. takes a
bend toward the North, and pursues that route 'as far as Clifton;
upon-Trent, where it becomes the boundary between Notting<
ham and Lincolnshire; and passes Gainsborough, ‘but does not
leave that county until it reaches Heck Dyke, from whence it
proceeds, after a course of near two hundréd miles; to the
Humber. - . : :

At Gainsborough, about eight miles before its leating thv/
éounty, it loses the influence of the tide which flows up so’
far, and is no longer navigable for vessels of any great btrthen 3
But vessels of a flatter construction are constamly oécdpied in
it as high up as Burton. Hts navigstion'is indeéd of suclr
jmportance to the country at rgé, in consequénce. of the
wumerous communications which it forms with other rivers and
canals, that every means have beem taker to-afford it alf the
facilities possible. For this purpose it has a sidé eut of terw
miles in length, in erder to avoid twenty-one shoals' which
occur in little more than thirteen miles of its course bétweer
Trent bridge at the commencement of the Nottingham' canal,
and Sawley Ferry at the commencement of the Trent and
Mersey canal. This side cut, which is sometimes ealled the
Trent Canal, hus a rise of twenty-eight feet; amd it ndt only
crosses and is connected with the Erwash canal near Sawley,
but has also a short cut and lock into the Trent at Beeston.:

The Erwash is but little connected witl the county,” merely
forming the boundary on the south-west for about ten or
twelve miles between Nottingham and DPerbyshires, and falls'
into the Trent near Thrumpton,

The Soar is more to the ssuthward, constititing a partial
boundary between this county and Leicestershire, but bas

mothing particularly wortby of notice.
i Besides
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- The impoerts fot county: consnimption, and for the supply of
the neighbouring dibtricts;.:are timber, hemip, flax dnd iron

.from the northern parts of Eorope ; malt, corn, and flour; gro-
-ceries of all kinds; ivines and spirits} cotton wool, and yart;

large quantities of flints from Northfleét and the varidus chalk-
pits near the Thames, for the use of the Staffordshire potteries ;
and in short all species of riw materials for inland manu-
factures, The .

. Manv#acrunes of the coenty are upén a.scale equally ex-
tensive: The stocking manufactory his ldng beeh a staple; and
is the most anciedt manufactire of the county ; it isto'be la-
wdented lioweven, that the partial stoppage of exportation from
the present enslaved state of the Continent, and the machi-

‘mations of some..designing chavicters, havé lately produced
-aehes of riot ahd outrage disgraceful tb these concerned in

them, and highly injaribus to the county at large. The par-

‘ticulars of this manefacture will Ye eitered into'more fnlly; in

the description of Nottinghiam. ..

~ Qotton Miils have now become a considerablé bnnch of ma-
hufactdre from theéir connedtion with the stocking trade. These
have also undertaken to produce a supply of cotton twist for
the Manchester trade. In the town of Nottingham alone there
are ho less than éiglit of these establishments; at Mansfield
there are thres; at Papplewick and Linby, six; at Newark,
wwo; besides others at Worksop, Redford, Southwell; &c. &c.
td the number of twelve or thirteen ; and four establishments of
worsted mills.

The Malting business is lnotber lucrative branch, principally
at Nottingham, Newark, and Mansfield ; and this is both for the
home consumption, and expottation to the counties in the vicinity.

The Breweries at Nottingltam and Newark are also objects
of great importance ; at the latter place in particalar, they coh-
sidered themselves as powerful. rivals of the Burton brewers,
and their foreign trade was very considerable previous to the
present circumscribed state of continental commerce.

Silk
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! We have alréady made some observations on the size of the
farms in this county, all of which are upon a moderate scale;
and we must again revert to that subject in our consideration
of the S '

Poor aND Poor’s RaTEs.—As these are in a great measure
cerroborative, in this county, of the general principles there
sdverted to. ‘
"Bden, in his very usefal work on the state of the poor through-
out the kingdom, speaking of a parish in a neighbouring county,
bat bordering close upon Nottinghamshire, says, that many
people of this parish attribute the rise in the poor’s rates to the
enclosure of the common fields; because, say they, before the
enclosure took place, farms were then from ten to forty-pounds
per annum, and any person could then rent a small tenement;
but now the parish being mostly thrown into large farms, it re-
quires a very considerable capital to stock one. This eircum-
stance reduces therefore numbers to the necessity of living in a
state of servile dependence on the large farmers; and as they
have no prospect to which their hopes can reasonably look for-
ward, their industry is checked, economy is deprived of its
greatest stimulant, and their only thought is how to enjoy the
present moment ! '

Let us now look at the state of the poor in Nottinghamshire,
where large farms are fortunately, as yet, almost unknown.
A very faithful picture of them has been drawn by Mr. Lowe
in his agricultural view of the county, which having been found
correct, as far ag"a cursory survey would admit of, we shall
venture to take it as our ground work. He tells us, and that
too with justice, that there are few counties in England where
the poor will be found better lodged, clothed or, fed, or better
provided with fuel.* Most cottages have a garden, and potatoe

garth,
® In this the manufacturing poor must be excepted ; for here as in all ather
places, they have that system of luxurious, yet brutish, indulgence, and that

slatternly poverty, which must always keep them in abject penury, and id
#lmost absalute voluntary wapt !
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woddy grounde of the Forest, and so to a little pore streete
a thoroughfare at the end of the wood.*

« A little or I came to the end of this wodde, I left about a
quarter of a mile on the right hand, the Ruins of Newstead a
priory of Chanons.”

In less than a century after this, Thoroton tells us that the
pleasant and glorious condition of this noble forest, is now won-
derfully declined ; and he adds, there is at present (1675) and
long hath been a justice seat held under my Lord’s Grace
the Duke of Newcastle, Justice in Eyre of all his Majesty’s
forests north of Trent, wherein it seems his deputies or lieuten-
ants have allowed such and so many claims, that there will not
shortly be wood enough left to cover the bilberries, which
every summer were wont to be an extraordinary great profit
and pleasure to poor people who gathered them, and carried
them all about the country to sell.

Notwithstanding this early .devastation there is still much
woodland scenery in existence, sufficient to give a pretty accu-
rate idea of what was once a forest lifc. Gilpin, (whose obser-
vations are 50 very picturesque, that we shall take an opportue-
nity of embodying many of them in this delineation as highly
illustrative of what may be esteemed one of the chief beauties
of Nottinghamshire) remarks, that this once celebrated forest was
formerly the frequent scene of royal amusement. As early as
the time of Henry the second, Mansfield was the general resi-
dence of the court upon these occasions, and it wasin its vicinity
that Henry made an acquaintance with the miller of famous
memory, Sir John Cockle; but in treating of Mansfield at
greater length, we shall perhaps have an opportunity of shewing
that this old legendary story is by no means of such an early
date. This forest was also the retreat of another personage,
equally celebrated in the Chronicle of ballad, the illustrious
Robin Hood, who with little John and the rest of his assoeiates,

making

* This seems to have been Papplewick.
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This forest however, if it does not possess what the landscape
gardener would term beautiful, has in itself every variety of
sylvan scenery, consisting of pasture tracts, of woody country
intermixed with pasturage, and in many places with cultivated
enclosures. These intermingled scenes are again divided from
other intermixtures of the same kind, by wild heaths which are
sometimes bounded by a naked line of horizon, at others skirted
with wood : and this intermixture of wocd and pasturage, with
large separations of heath, gives a variety to many tracts of
Sherwood Forest which could not be expected in a boundless
continuance of woody scenery alone.

.The forest heath too, though to the common observer it pre-
sents oply ideas of sterility and desolation, becomes a most in-
teresting scene to the tasteful admirer of nature, when bounded,
as it generally is in this forest, by woods in various direetions,
and interspersed here and there with lately planted clumps
which almost imperceptibly unite its woody boundaries with
the wide foreground of heath and gravel. A very pleasing
contrast too may be discovered in the broad masses of colour
in the wild extent of heath and the various portions of gravelly
surface, broken as they often are by the rude forest tracks, or
dotted in deeper shades with patches of furze, fern, or other
wild plants which stain it as it were with every shade of green,
or enliven it with the livelier tints of the yellow furze blossoms,
But among all the minuter plants, as Mr. Gilpin observes, fern
is the most picturesque. In itself it is beautiful. We admire
it, adds he, for the form of its leaf—its elegant mode of hang-
ing—and its dark brown polished stem. As an accompaniment
alsu, nothing is better suited to unite the higher plants with the
ground ; whilst its bright green hues in summer, and its ochre.
tint in autumn, join each season with its correspondent tinge.
In some places too the most pleasing ideas of animated nature
break in upon the desart scene, from the woodman’s cottage,
or groupes of cattle, or the starting deer, and when these cir-
cumstances come in unexpectedly, and happily unite with the

6 time
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According to Thorotes, Sugrwoon Foaest extends into the
Hondreds of Broxton, Thurgarton, and Bassetlaw. He considers .
its origin, as a forest, uncertain ; but although not mentioned
by name, earlier than the time of Henry the second, he shews
it must have been known as a forest long before, for William
Peverel in the first year of that reign, was called upon to
amwer “ De. Placitis Forestz” in this county: At that time he
bad the whole profit and command of this forest; but it must
soon after have fallen to the crown, for in Henry’s eighth year
(1161) the sheriff of the county prays to be discharged of 4.
in vasto forestee ; and two years afterwards be prays for the
same discharge, also for 6. 5s. 0d. paid to the constable, eight
foresters and a warrener ; and 404, to the canons of Sherwood
for alms.*

The old Forest Books cuntain a copy of a charter made by
King John, before his coming to the crown and whilst earl of
Morteyn, to Matilda de Caux and Ralph Fitastephen her hus-
band, and to their heirs, of all the liberties and free customs
which any of the ancestors of the said Maud (lords of Laxton)
beld at any time in Nottinghamshire or Derbyshire, that is, all
the forest of Nottingham and Derbyshires, as their ancestors
ever held the same.

It afterwards came to John Birking as heir general to Matilda
de Caux, and the 11th of Henry the third (1226) was in the

" possession of his son ; but this line failing, it descended to the
family of Everingham, who by beirship claimed « Custo-
diam Forestarum Regis” in both Notts’ and Derby; but Tho-
roton is of opinion that this claim extended no farther than the
preceding limits of Sherwood Forest, as Henry had disafforested
all the other parts of those counties, five years before this claim
was putin.

The Everingham family having lost their rights by forfeiture,
in the reign of Edward the first, it came to the crown, since
whichtime it has come generally under the civil jurisdiction of

. » the

® It is probable these were the monks of Newstead Abbey.
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river to Pleasley, so up to Otter Brigges, then keeping the
great highway to the Millford, thence to Mayneshead, by
Hardwick and Kirkeby to Nun Carre, on. towards Annesley,
keeping the high road to Linbye through the midst of that town
to Lene water, on to Lenton, “and from thence by the said
water, as it was wont of old time to run into the water of Trent,
to the fall of Doverbeck.”

Although there were some disafforestation after this, yet they

appear to have been again resumed ; so that, as Thoroton states,
this old perambulation stood in the year 1673, without any re-
markable alteration. It must be remembered, however, that
several tracts of land, particularly in the nosthern district as
far as Rossington bridge, which lay in a waste state, had been
generally esteemed part of the forest ; but from the survey of
1609, they appear either not to have belonged to the forest, or
to have been disafforested before that time.
. The present state of this forest has been ably delineated by
the late Major Rooke, who observes that it is the only one that
now remains under the superintendance of the chief justice in
Eyre, north of Trent, or which now belongs to the crown in
that district.*

Tbe Forest OFFicERs, consist of a Lorp WaRDEN, who
holds his office by letters patent from the crown, during plea-

sure ;

® By the survey of 1609, this Forest was parcelled out in three wa lks,

The north includes the towns of Carburton, Gleadthorpe, Warsop, Nettle-

worth, Mansfield-woodhouse, Clipstone, Rufford, and Edwinstow ; the hays

of Birkland and Bilhagh, towns of Budby, Thoresby, Paletborpe, or Pe-
verelthorpe, and Ollerton.

In the middle, are Mansfield, Pleasley hill, Skegby, Sutton, Hueknell,
Fulwood, part of Kirkby, Blidworth, Papplewick, Newstead, part of Lin-
by, and part of Annesley.

In the south, are the towns of Nottingham, part of Welford, with Rad-
ford, Sueinton, Colwick, Gedling, Stoke, Carleton, Burton, and Bulcote,
Gunthorpe, Caythorpe, and Lowdham ; Lambley, Arnold, Basford, Bulwell,
Beskwood Park, Woodborough, Calverton, and Sauntesford Manor.

Vide Appendis to Lowe’s Agricultural Survey.
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‘Mr. Lowe states that the whole soil of the forest is unders
st0od to have been granted by the crown to different lords of
manors, reserving only, in forest language, the vert and vens-
som, or trees and dcer. The latter were certainly in former
times very numerous, and all of the red kind, with the ex-
ception of Thorney wood chace, where they were the fallow
deer. © Within the memory of many persons, now living, herds
of a hundred or more might be seen together in different parts
of this woodland district; but the extension of cultivation has
driven them gradually from their accustomed haunts ; and, ex-
cept in preserved parks, there are none now to be found. The
vert, and venison if there were any, are under the care of the
verdurers slready mentioned.

It was most certainly not quite an exaggeration in an author,
who wrote about the middle of the last century,® to say that
the woods were so destroyed, that Robin Hood would scarcely
find shelter in Sherwood forest for a week ; for of the ancient
woedland, the principal remains are now only to be found in
the hays of Birkland and Bithagh, which form an epen wood of
large ancient oaks, free from underwood (except inome part
where some natural birch is growing,) but most of them in a
state of decay. The extent of this tract is about three miles,
by one and a half; or about fifteen hundred acres: and in a
survey about two and twenty years ago, they contained no
wmore than ten thousand one hundred and seventeen trees, va-
lued at a little more than seventeen thousand pounds. Part of
these hays is in Thoresby park. Clumber park contains the re-
mains of two venerable wouods, which were called Clumber
and Hardwick woods ; and there are some other ancient dis-
tricts of small extent consisting of Harlow wood, Thieves wood,

and
land, one of Calverton, one of Faruesfield, one of Langton arbour and
Blidworth, and one of Sutton in Ashfield. There were also a keeper of Net-
tingham park, a kecper of Clipstone, and several woodwards for every town-
ship.
*® Tour through Great Britain, Vol. 3.
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and some scattered portions of the Mansfield woods, which,
however, can boast of very little valuable timber. These are
all that remain of the ancient woodland ; but we shall have oce
“casion to enter more minutely into a description of the modern
plantations which are now conducting on an extensive scale.

The enclosed parks, bordering on the forest land, have some
ontique and very august specimens of the ancient forest ho-
nours. Major Rooke observes that in Welbeck park, particu-
larly, the extensive groves of ancient and majestic oaks are
beautifully diversified by the slender and pendant hranches of
the silver-coated birch, with which they abound. Many. of
thase venerable oaks are of an extraordinary size, and undoubt-
edly of very remote antiquity, perhaps not less than a thousand
years old, some of them being upwards of thirty four-feet in
circumference.

Among the many large trees, which are objects of curiosity
to the botanical tourist, is an oak on the west side of Clipstone
park, called the parliament oak, from a tradition of a parliament
having been held there by Edward the first ; and another near
the north-end of the same park, called the Broad oak, mea-
suring twenty seven feetand a half in circumference. Near
Blidworth also, there is a very large and ancient ¢lm called:
Langton arbour, which even some centuries ago was sufficiently
xemarkable to givea name to one of the forest walks, and to
have a keeper appointed to it.*

A recent discovery has shewn a very curious mode of ascer-

1aining

® In traversing the forest between Mansfield and Nottingham, the tourist
will observe a large square pillar, on which was formerly a brass-plate with an
inscription. This is on the north side of Harlow wood ; and tradition says,
that this pillar was formerly the place where the forest officers of the crown
assembled annuslly on Holyrood.day, early in (he morcing, to reccive the
charge of the lord chief justice in Eyre, to view fences, and take an account
of the deer, inorder to make their presentments at the Sweinmote court,

which was held on that day at Mansicld bya steward appuinted by the Jurd
chief justice in Eyre. Rooke's Sketch of the Foreat.
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wards, One fact in particular is well worthy of attention, that
they are free from indecency, which is not the case with the
popular ballads even so late as the reign of Elizabeth ; and this
simple fact alone must place the date of their composition, or
of their present dress, at a period not by any means remote,
Indeed Mr. Throsby partly agrees with this opinion; for al-
though he says that their remote antiquity cannot be doubted,
he adds that they most likely have been varied agreeably to
the phraseology of the different periods in which they have
been recited. We further agree with him in his observation,
that who were the authors of them, nobody knows ; and that
they were most probably written by various hands, as some of
them have much more of the spirit of poetry than others.

That Robin Hood however was not a fabulous hero, there are
sufficient reasons to prove, if it were necessary.

Camden calls him the gentlest thief that ever was ; and Major
says of him,

¢ From wealthy abbots’ chests, and churles abandant store,
What often times he tuoke, he shared amongst the poor:
No lordly Bishop came in Robin’s way,

To him, before he went, but for his pass must pay :

The widow in distress, he graciously relieved,

And remedied the wrongs of many s virgin grieved.”

As early as 1594 his story seems to have become a favourite
subject for the drama ; for in that year was printed ¢ a pastoral
comedy of Robin Hood and Little John,”” Again in 1624 we
meet with “ Robin Hood’s pastoral May Games;” and in 1730
Robin Hood is performed as an opera at Bartholomew Fair in
London. Shortly after came out « Robin Hood and his Crew
of Soldiers,” and in 1751 a musical entertainment under the
name of “ Robin Hood” came out at Drury-lane ; besides which
we have had « Robin Hood, or Sherwood Forest” of a recent
date; all founded on the original Garland.

This collection of ballads is too well known to require the

msertion of any extracts; but the events which it records dif-
fer
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of conversation, and produced a kind of friendly feeling towards
him, although an outlaw. He appears by the Garland to have
made his business his amusement, and to have been a merry
thief, for he sports most jocularly with the characters and per-
sons of a bishop, and the sheriff of the county, after robbing
them of their purses.

Yet he was not always victorious; but seems to have been
roughly handled at different times, by a tinker, a shepherd,
‘and a friar, and several others. .

He is next described as going to London, and being received

.at court, where he appeared in a scarlet dress, whilst his men
were clad in Lincols green; all of them wearing black hats and
‘'white feathers : a species of costume, by the bye, unknown in
the reign of Richard the first, or of John, at which time he
Tived. -

Soon after this, he is stated to have fought a desperate battle
with Little John, or John Little, who was scven feet high, in
which however he was worsted ; but Little Jobn notwithstand-
ing joined the troop, and became his faithful friend.* After this
the Garland states that a monk whom he sent for to let him
blood, was the cause of his death, when all his bowmen fled to
different countries to escape that justice which they could not
otherwise avoid, now that their chief was gone.

Thus far the Garland; but the author of the « Anecdotes of
Archery,” who seems to have paid considerable attention in his
research afier the real events of this outlaw’s life, gives us some
other particulars which have a great semblance of authenticity.
He describes him as at the head of two hundred strong, reso-
lute men, and expert archers, ranging the forest of Sherwood,
but not remaining there always.

Fuller

® There is a loose paper in Ashmole’s hand writing in the Oxford museum,
which says * the famous Little Jobn (Robin Hood’s companion) lies buried
in Hethersedge church-yard, in the peak of Derbyshire; one stone at his
head ; another at his feet; and part of his bow hangs up in the churth,
A. D. 1618. ‘
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tagems which were put in practice to ensnare him but in vain ;
for force he repelled by force, and stratagem by more. skilful
wiles. At length the force sent against him was so powerful
that many of his followers fell, and the remainder baving been
forced for personal safety to desert him, he sought shelter and
protection in the priory of Kirklees in Yorkshire, the prioress
of which was his near relative. Here it is said old age, dissap-
pointment, and violent fatigue, brought on a disease which re-
quired venesection, when the monk who was called to perform
-the operation, either through ignorance or design, wounded an
artery, and he bled to death,

Convinced that his end was appreaching, and wishing to
mark the spot for his last repose, he called for his bow, and let-
ting fly two arrows, the first fell into the river Calder, but the
second falling into the park, pointed out the place of sepulture.
His death is said to bave taken place on the eve of Christmas
day 1274; and on his tomb, which still remains in Kirklees
park, the following epitaph is said to have been inscribed by
the prioress.

¢ Hear undernead dis latil stean,
Lais Robert Earl of Huntington ;
Nea arcir ver as hie sa geud,
And pip! kauld im Robin Heud :
Liek utlaz as hi an is men

Vil England nivr see agen.”®

The question now naturally arises,  who and what was this
Robin Hood, earl of Huntingdon ?4 .
That

* A drawing of this tomb s preserved by Gough in Lis Sepulchral Monu-
ments, but we are told that the late Sir Samuel Armitage caused the stone to
be taken up, and the ground-below it to be dug a yard deep, which appeared
never before to have been moved. Jtwas thence supposed that this could not
have been the place of his interment.

Mr. Ritson also on the suthority of one of the Sloanian M$S, says that it was
the prioress who bled him, and suffered him to bleed to death.

t Robin Hood has not been mentioned by any of the clerical wmen of
that
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and lord of Kyme in Lincolnshire. Of this marriage was Wile
liam Fitz Ooth, who was brought up by Robert de Vere earl of
Oxford, and married a relative of his patron, the daughter of
Paganel Beauchamp and Roisia de Vere of the Oxford family.
Robert Fitz Ooth was the son by this match, and he certainly
could thus prove a descent from the first earl of Huntingdon,
though his claim to the title might not be so certain ; and yet it
" must be acknowledged that he was atleast onc of the representa-
tives of Waltheof the first ear], by his daughter Alice; a claim of
some importance when it is recollected that Waltheof leaving
no son, the title of Huntingdon, after his death, was carried by
another daughter Maud to her husband Simon St. Liz, who was
the second earl, but left no issue ; and Maud marrying to her
second hasband David, prince, and afterwards king, of Scotland,
he became third earl of Huntingdon in right of his marriage ; but
this line failed in John Le Scot who was the tenth earl of Han-
tingdon, but died without issue in 1337, from which time until
1337, when the title was conferred as a new grant on William

de Clinton, it appears to have been considered as extinct.
Throsby, who, in his additions to Thoroton, seems to have
taken a very comprehensive view of this subject, observes that
under these circumstances, the title may actually have been
claimed by Robert Fitz Ooth ; and there is great weight ina
subsequent observation where he says, it has been supposed that
he might have been driven to his predatory course of life, in
consequence of the troubled state of Henry the second’s reign,
or perhaps adopted it, being dissatisfied with the refusal of his
claims, particularly as his father William Fitz Ooth might have
been implicated in the consequences of the rebellion of the
king’s eldest son, the prince Henry; for in the rebellion
the earl of Ferrers took the pripce’s side, and he waslord
of Loxley, which has been said to be the birth place of Robin
Hood. It may also not be irrelevant to observe, that the fact
of his being something more than a mere robber is evident from
the considerable force which he was able to raise and to keep
4 together,
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limited extent, skirted partly by the Leicestershire hills, seems
like a new world starting into existence. It is, in short, impossible
for any man of taste or feeling to view the scene without experi-
encing emotions that he must allow to be indescribable—cmotions
such as the Jewish lawgiver may have felt on Pisgah’s mount.
Then the approach on the western road from Derby, is com-
pletely different from the others. On arriving at Wollaton
park-gate, the town is just seen; all that is descried is then in
a commanding situation, and this is perhaps the point of view
which impresses a stranger with the highest ideas of the place :
on the right, the castle and its commanding cliffs boldly start-
ing from the verdant swells in the park; in the centre the bar-
racks appearing to form a town of themselves ; and to the left, a
number of windmills which immediately excite the idea ofa Dutch
or Flemish town. To the north he looks down upon the forest,
with its foreground flat, but in high cultivation; around are
numerous villas, and respectable manufacturer’s country re-
treats; on all sides the country appears rich, well cultivated,
and populous; and the noise of the stocking frames is heard in
most of the houses.

The sounds of industry on all sides present indeed a different
picture from that drawn by a facetious traveller, sometime in the
seventeenth century, who, in his journey to the north, says,

¢« Thence to Nottingham where rovers,
Highway riders, Sherwood drovers,

Like old Robin Hood and Scarlet,

Or like Little Johu his varlet;

Here and there they show them doughty

In cells and woods to get their booty." e —mmmmm—

At the same time it must be confessed, that although the en-
trance on the western side is open and airy, yet the long line
of street filled with low manufacturing cottages does not im-

press

® Vide Drunken Barnaby's Journey.
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which time, according to him, king Ebranc built a town on tbe,
banks of Trent, and partly on this « Dolorous” hill, a name
which it bad acquired, from the extreme grief of the Britons,
in consequence of a great slaughter of them by king Humber"
and which took place.here in the reign of king Albanact. Fes
this piece of original secret history, indeed, the reverend monk
does not favour us with any authority ; nor can we help think-
ing it a piece of unnecessary labour in Dering,* in his history
of the town, being at the trouble of proving that the Britons
being little better than savages at Ceesar’s coming, which wes
omly half a century before the commencement of the Christian
era, soit was not likely that they should bave been more civi-
lised 900 years earlier. * Dr. Dering however, like other. writess,
indulges himself also in conjecture; but as there is some ap-
pearance of plausibility in his opinion, we shall slightly noticq
its substance. He conceives then that the most which can be
-supposed with a due regard to probability, is that considering
the convenient situation of that part of the forest of Sherwood,
in the immediate vicinity of the site of the present town, it is
not unlikely that several colonies of Britons had planted them.
selves hereabouts, where they were sheltered from the incles
mency of the most prevalent winds of the winter season, accom-
modated with the convenience of a southern aspect, and with
plenty of water. Nay, like Dr. Stukely, he imagines it highly
probable, that as soon as these people were provided with tools for
the purpose, finding in these partsa yielding rock, they might
tmprove their habitations by making their way into the main
rock, and framing to themselves convenient apartments in it,and
that perhaps long before the Romans came into this neigh-

bourhood.

Nottingham ; and immediately after it is stated that Lucius son of Helena
caused four cities to be founded, one of which was Nottingham. Upon the
‘whole; it seems that the Monkish writers were iguorant of, or inattentive to,
that wholesome adage, that people of a certain habit ought to have good me-
mories,

* Dering’s Town of Nottingham.
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bourhood. He seems to lay the greater stress upon this conjece
ture, in consequence of the discovery made by some workmen em-
ployed by lord Middleton in 1740, tolevel a deep and narrow way

between the two hills called the Sand-bills on the Derby road

approaching to Chapel Bar; for when these workmen had re--
moved a good deal of the sandy part of the hills, they met here

and there with excavations which (upon clearing away the

sand from them,) appeared to form the partition walls of several

rooms, of different altitudes, cut out of the solid rock. These,
the Doctor thought, had no marks of being of Roman workman-
ship, and he therefore considers them as British. These re-
mains he even considers as of higher antiquity than the exca-
vations in the rock on which Nottingham stands; and having
roundly asserted, (which may indeed be true) that the whole
yock on which the town is built is so undermined and hollowed
eut, that it is almost a question, whether the solid .contents of
what is erected on the top would fill up the cavities under
ground, he comes to the conclusion that the sand of the place
in question was brought from the Nottingham excavations, and
that it would not have been lodged upon the site of these cham-
bers if they had not been in a ruinous state, and therefore of con-
siderable antiquity. He adds that there are other sand hills
about the town where the same discoveries have been made,
which have given rise to a tradition thatthe ancient town of Not-
tingham stood further to the northward ; and is of opinion that
these straggling habitations formed no part of the town in the
Saxon times, being considerably without that wall which Ed-
ward the elder constructed for the defence of Nottingham.

The Doctor then adverts to a story of Coilus, a British king,
having been buried here in the year of the world 3832, a period
which in ancient chronology falls in between the destruction of
Sodom and Gomorrah, and the destruction of Troy : but though
possessed of all the prejudices natural to a local historian, he
acknowlcdges that even this isno more a proof, if true, of the an-
tiquity of Notlingham, than that the certainty of some Indian

huts



NOTTINGHAMSIIRS. "

hets having stood & thousand years sge on the present scites of
New York, or Philadelphis, would carry their anlqmtyhck
beyond the days of William Penn.

After all these conjectures we can only say tht thody
thing certain is, that there is 2o authentic history extant which
gives any accouat of the first formation of the caverns of our -
ancient Troglodytes ; we may, therefore, safely infer that they
are anterior to all authentic history, and, of cours¢, older than
the time of the Romans. How far they may be carried deyond
that perfod is, however, perhaps for ever hid ia obscurity ; but
if we might be allowed to add ene conjecture to the' many al.
teady in existence, we should certainly venture to suppose that
they could not have been made, before the island of Britain
was indabited, though probably very soon afier; and we may
vegture to predict that when the one era is settled-precisely by
conjecturing antiquaries, the other may then be guessed' st
within & century or two! We come now to 8 period of Topo-
graphical bistery, which might be supposed attended with few
difficulties; but the real antiquary seems possessed of the pro.
perty of the Cuttle fish, which throws owt such a quantity of
énk ground it, that itis impossible to trace it in the obscurity.
When the emperor Antoninus drew up his Itinerary, through
the island of Britain, he seems to have been anxious to settle
both the names of places, and their distances, with great pre-
cision ; unfortunately, however, not being gifted with prophetic
powers, he bas not told us, what these places would be called
in succeeding ages, and there are now as many disputes upon
the road, where the Romans were, and where they were not,
that a plain jog trot traveller can scarcely get along. Even
round this very spot, now under examination, two very learned
men, Dr. Gale, and Mr. Baxter, have kicked «p such a dust, that
if they had both travelled the same road, the traveller in search
of truth would have been blinded ; they seem not to have tras
velled the same road, however, and therefore there is a differ-
ence of twenty milcs in their distances ; or perhaps, for a more
. Vor. XIIL F logical
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consider that it possesses extensive ‘caverns, of an antiquity
equal to that of the latter place, or at least apparently so: and
it is much to be regretted that the able antiquaries of past days
were not in possession of such a clue to conjecture. ’Tis not
for ux to venture further into a subject so capable of extension;
‘but we may he allowed to express a hope that some local an-
tiquary will be induced to investigate it, as far as probability
will authorize his research.

From' the period of the union of the Saxon heptarchy, Not-
tingham seems to have increased in consequence. In Edward
the Confessor’s reign, immediately preceding the Norman con-
quest, there were one hundred and seventy three burgesses,
and nineteen villeins, in this borough ; and Earl Tosti bad lands
and houses here. ‘

- But, perhaps; the proper era from whence we should com-
mence our view of the rise and progress of this place, is that
period when the kingdom was settled, after the Norman acces-
sion, and the survey of Domesday-book, was made. From
this register it appears that Hogh, the sheriff, found here one
hundred and twenty dwelling houses, of which the sheriff him-
self possessed thirteen ; Roger de Builly had eleven ; William
Peverell the earl, son of Ralph Peverell, who came in with
the Norman, -had forty-eight tradesmen’s houses,c which
brought him in thirty shillings per annum rent, ® seven
knights’, and thirteen gentlemen’s houses, besides eight borders,
forming, in- the whole, his honour of -Peverell, -in the town ;
Ralph de Burun had-twelve gentlemen’s houses, and one mer-
chant’s house ; one Guilbert, had four houses; Ralph Fitzher-
bert, eleven houses; Goisfrid de Anselyn, twenty one houses ;

- * Acadus

® Itis curious to contrast this sum with the valuc of land in Nottingham
at the present day. In 1811, tlte.gtound for some new baildings, in a street,
at the end of Smithy Row, was sold at the rate of 9l per square yard ; so
that three square yards, without buildings, in the'year 1811, would yield as
mauch in interest of money, ss forty-eight houses did, in rent, in the yeas
1086 !
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Acadus the Priest, two houses ; in the croft of the Priest-there
were sixty houses ; Richard Tresle, had four houses; and in
the borough ditch, seventeen bouses, and other six houses'; all
amounting to two hundred and seventeen.

The compiler of « Magna Britannia,” published about a cen:
tury ago, . is of opinion, that the reason why we find no more
inhabitants, in this borough, is because many of the houdes
were deserted, in consequence of the ravages, that took place,
in the Norman conquest ; and the number was certainly dimi-
nished; since the Confessor’s reign, for then there were, as we
have before noticed, one hundred and ninety-two burgesses,
and villeins, though, when the first Norman survey was taken,
there were -only one bundred and thirty-six men dwelling
there, which number, at the Domesday survey, was reduced to
one hundred.and twenty. About this time, however, great en-
couragement seems to have been given to resident burgesses,
(and we may, perhaps, from hence date the origin of the mo-
dern .burgess lands,) for the burgesses bad six carucats to
plow, and twenty borders, and fourteen carucats, # or plough
lands besides. They were also wont to fish in the Trent, bnt'
camplained that they were then prohibited.

At this period, also, the church, with all things helongmg to
it, was of 100 shillings annual value.

Hawing thus investigated its origin, we shall now proceed to
take a short view of its general

Hisrory, premising first, from Dering, that Nottingham can
claim, as a town of note, the ageof 900 years; as a considera-
ble borough, 761 ; as a mayor’s town, 518, being only a' cen-
tury posterior to the metropolis; asa parliamentary borough;
during which it bas constantly sent two representatives, 521 3

F3 and

¢ This must have been a considerable quantity, for the canu;at. or hide, m

six-score acres of arable land, together with pasture, and meadow, with

barns, stables, and dwellings, for such a nurber of ren, and beasts, as were
pecessary for agricultural purposes.
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they pecceived vory phinly, as they afterwards said, & whirl-
ing spiral motion, whilst a rumbling noise like thunder was
heard at a distance, By the deseription which those people
gavs of it, (and indeed they may be supposed to have examin.
od it coolly, whilst they supposed it to be only § column of
mmeke)) the middle of the cong sppesred nearly twenty-feet
Indiameter. After passing the river, it ascended slowly and
mpjestically in a N. E, direction; and nothing coming within
the limits of its electric powers, until it came over Snenton, it
there first began its devastation, taking the thatch from several
barps and cottages, and tesring up some apple trees by.the
Toots, one of which was four feet in circumference,. yet was
broken short off near the ground, and. the body sad branches
carsied several yards. A bars.near 30 yards long was levelled
with the ground ; the adjoining house was unroofed, snd other-
‘wige much shattered ; 8 sycamore in the ‘yard, which measured
nqxlx yards in circumference, was.torn up; in short, no-
thi,p‘ eonldmnt the impetuosity of its action; and the rain
falling heavily at the tipe, jojned to the roaring noise of the
spout, and aided by the somelty of the phenomenon, preduced
amongst the spectators a scene of terror and confosion which,
they acknowledged, was not easy to be deacribed.

It was stated also, that in a tavern in the outskirts of the vil-
lage, it tore off part of - the roof, whilst the people within were*
almost all of them seized with a painful sensation in the head,
which Jasted some hours: and the spout in passing over the ad-
joining close where a number of people were collected, it
being the usual statute for hiring servants, afforded rather a.lu-
dicrous scene wherein hucksters, stalls, baskets, &c. were all
thrawn into confusion, and some of the people hurled with
great violence against the hedge, but happily without any se- -
riousaccident. ' One boy indeed, about 14 years of age, is said
to have been actually carried over. the hedge into. an adpim‘_
field, but without being injared.

Saome flashes of light were observed in its passing the fields ;

8 and
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cotton-mill, in which some of those considered as Jacobins had
‘taken shelter, and from whence it has been asserted that some
shot were fired. The vigilance of the magistrates and their
friends, however, assisted by the light horse from the bar-
racks, prevented further mischief than the burning of some
premises, not of any extraordinary value: but the next day
still continued as a day of ducking a.nd disorder, until the
popular ebullition subsided.

- Mr. Throsby, also records s great flood, which took place
here, on the 7th of February 1795, after a severe week’s frost,
and in which, by an accurate estimate, upwards of vne million
of damage was done by the Trent alone. Many families, both
in the town, and indeed in all the villages bordering on that
tiver, were great sufferers, from the loss of cattle drowned, and
from the damage done to their goods. The new gravel road to
the Trent Lridge, which had been heightened and improved at
different times at a very cousiderable expense, and the beau-
tiful canal cut, which forms a collateral branch with the river
Lene, received such immense fractures, as to require an im-
mense expense for their repair ; and the new Lene bridge, with
its -accompanying arches formed to draw the water off the
road, wasalso materially injured.

From that period, nothing remarkable has happened at Not-
tingham until the unfortunate disturbances amongst the stock-
ing manufacturers in the early part of 1812, and a short time
preceding ; butthe occurrences are too recent to require de-
scription, and it is to be hoped, that the parliamentary regula-
tions which are taking place, whilst these sheets are in the
press, will prevent the necessity of any further notice, We
shall now proceed to the consideration of the

LocaL Torograray,of Nottingham, which the author of the
tour through Great Britain very justly states to be, one of the
most pleasant and beautiful towns in England, from its situation,
even if its various buildings were not to be taken into the
sccount, We bave already noticed the various circumstances,

connected
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connected with its approack ‘from different quarters, and shall
now slightly notice its

Situarion and Extent, the former of which ilperlnplal
favourable as can well be imagined, With respect to its relas
tive situation to the kingdom in general, Dr. Dering very justly
observes that it lies almost in the middle, equidistant from Bes-
wick upon Tweed northward, and Southampton southward, st
the same time that there is very little difference in its distance
from Boston and Chester, on an east and west line, .

It is locally fixed in the south west corner of the county, ant
of the venerable Sherwood forest, and drily and airily situatedt
upon 4 soft rock covered with 4 sandy soil, On three sides; it
is sufficiently protected by gentle eminences from the most
burtful blasts, whilst its southern aspect gives it every ddvan-
tage of the enlivening rays of the noon-tide sun at all seasons
of the year. On this point of view, it overlooks the fertile
and extensive vale of Belvoir, the Nottinghamshire wolds;
and the hills of Leicestershire; a prospect not only pleasing
from its beauty, but also from the consiteration of the greds
fertility of the vicinity, particularly in the barley crops, and
which has rendeted Nottingham so long famous for malt and
ale. .

The rock on which it stands, is so high that even the grouhd
floors of many houses on its summit, are a long way elevated
above the rools of other habitatidns situated in the Narrow Marsh
at its foot, Indeed the stranger is struck with the novelty of
the prospect when in one part he contemplates three tiers of
streets, each overlooking the one immediately below it, and
msiny of the houses in these streets with apartments cut into
the rock, below the cellars of the superior ones.

From several breaks in the High and Low Pavements, and in
the Castlc Lane, the birds eye view of the houses and gardens
between the foot of the rock and the rivers Lene and Trent, is
extremely picturesque, and becomes more so when the spec-
tator views the more distant scenery extending from the roman~

Voa. XIL G tic





















fabrics, supported by those ornamented pillars already no-
ticed, and through which he made his way to the upper end of
Pilcher gate, having found there a wooden cup and a wooden
can, which seemed to be sound and whole, but, on being taken
hold of, mouldered into dust.

The conclusion drawn from this by Dering is too erroneous
1o escape notice; for he says “these places heing of the Goghic
order, I conjecture to have been contrived in the time of the
. heptarchy,” which was in fact about three hundred years before
the introduction of Gothic architecture into England! There
is, however, mare apparent probability in the sequel, as the
csuses which he assigns may have not only brought some of
the ancient excavations into use, bpt rendered the. making of
otbers necessary ; for he observes that the Danes, who were
then Pagans, made frequent inroads into the kingdom of Mer-
¢in, where they exercised in a most extraordinary manner
their cruelties upon nuns and friars, and indeed upon Christian
‘prieats of all kinds.. To them, therefore, these caves might
have been a refuge in time of danger, and there they might
possibly have been in the habit of performing their religious
duties, without the danger of being exposed to the fury of
those persecuting idolaters. The

CasTLe isthe first object of particular curiosity to a stranger ;
not so much perhaps for its own beauty, as for its commanding
situation, and the interesting historical passages connected with
it. Camden, who wrote whilst the ancient fortress was in ex-
istence, briefly observes, that this castle rises on a bold rock on
the west side of the town, where it is supppsed to have been
anciently a fort which the Danes held out against Ethelred as
already mentioned ; but without attending to suppasitions, we
have the historical fact that it was founded by William tbe Con-
queror, and its government conferred on William Peverel, who
seems, or at least his son, to bave been the superintendant of
its erection.*

of

. % Thiy castle not being mentioned in Domesday-book, hasled some to sup-
wose that it was not erected until the reign of Henry the first.
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& swcres passage, dhd came into his mother’s apartment—there
was at first some noise made, and two knights of the guard were
killed. The earl of March was apprehended, and notwith-
standing the queen’s cries and entreaties to spare the gallant
Mortimer, he was carried out the same way the king came in,
and conducted under s strong guard to the tower of London.*
Thie oldest description of the pasage thus aliuded to, is in
' Camden,

be layde under the chemsell of her beddis bede unto the morrow, and so I
may not come into the castell by the yats no menner of wyse, but yet I know
Basther waye by an aley that stretcheth oute of the ward under the esrthe
imp the castell that gooth into the west, which aley queen Isabell, no mere
#f ber meayne ne the Mortimer ne none of his companye knowth it not, and
50 I shall lede you through the aley, and 50 ye shall come into the castell
‘withoit aspiges of any men that beth your Enemies.” Stowe and the other
‘chestiiciers inform us more particalarly than Rapin seems to have thought
weeessary, that it was upon Friday sfter the feast of St. Luke, in the dead
sima of the aight, that the king and his party * got into the eustle by & way
made under ground, which through a rock pesseth by stairs up to the kesy
(which place hath cver since been called Mostimer's Hole) and entering
a 'rqom next to the queen’s lodgings, found the Earl with Heory bishop of
Lincoln, and some others, &c.” Vide Magna Britannis, Vol. IV. p.7-
The queen is stated to have exclaimed, * Bel Fitz, Bel Fits, ayes pitie du
gentill Mortimer.”

*.This wnfortunate favourite was not.heard in his defence aguinst the vatious
charges brought against him, some of which were certainly rather political
errors than political crimes, whilst others wece more supported by infevence
than by prosf. With respect to his, personal familiarity with the Queen-
mother however, that must still remain as an historical fact ; although he had
 very numerous family by his wife, Joan daughter of Peter de Gene-
vile Lord of Trim in Ireland. His sentence, which, ran, that he should,
@ & traitor, be drawn and hanged on the common gallows at Tyburn,
was e¢xecuted without the least favour. His body, after hanging twe
days and nights, was granted to the Friars minors, who baried itin their church,
now Christ Church. The irregularity of bis not being beard, howaver, proved
in the end advantageous to his family, for Roger his grandson obtained af-
terwards an act to reverse this sentence as erroneous, and bis descendants, in
the female line, afterwards mounted the throne of England. Edward the
fourth was son of Anne Mortimer, duchess of York, and heiress of Edniund
her brother, the last earl of March. 9
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come the haunts of the very lowest of society, who there take
up their nocturnal abode; and if nota den.of th'nvu, it may be
conpidlered 88 something worse, : - ., Se et

+ On a careful. examination, i. uamdsnt M the whole.line
of excayation. has: been the work. of different periods.. The
Dove-cote, for instances, is but of modern date; and closs by i,
where there are chimnies cut through the rock, the marks of the
‘wnoke siill remain, as ifby the:effects of yestorday’s.oocupamoy.
"Deving. says .that, in his time, some old pesple: remembered
thbem mnch more extensive.; and he adds from tradition, ¢ that
in.tbe time of the;civil war,, the Ronndheads bad. demolished &
part of them under pretence. of sheir abhorrence to Popery,?
which may-perbaps be the .sole ongm .of, their heemngﬂn
wame of Papist holes. , - . . ..

v We will.not follow. the , various m&ou thnugh tbearmdo
range of conjectuses; but must confess that there scems most’
probability in that which, suppases them to have bpen the vesis
dence of some order of anchorets or hermits, not endowed,
though perhaps dependent upon some . religious,-houss, and,
therefore, not.recorded in sny list of religious. foundations. : To
which we must add, that it is extremely.probable thes, whea
mare entire, their entrance. was more easily concealed ; and,
therefore, that in the early days of the reformation they max
bave been occupied at times .for religious purpases,. by thess
who were averse from the new order of things,. and wished to
enjoy the exercise of their ritual in secret, . .o

. The place designated by Stukely, as en hermitage, bas
nothing remarkable ; and we were.not fortunate enough to find
out the spot mentioned by Dering .as affording the mast clesr
and perfect echo, he had ever met with, .

At the upper end of the pask, adjoining the Derby N‘dv

are the
Bamcxs

already mentioned ; a spacious range of brick buildings, open
and airy, and healthfully situated. They were erected by
government in 1792.93. . 4

When
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nearer to some friends who were stirring in  his favoer, - beth in
the south and west. He sccordingly came to Nottingham a
few days before the 35th; and baving gone towards Coventry
with a few troops, the gates were shut against him, and he found
it necesmary, in consequence of the appearance of some of the
parliamentarian forces, fo return to Nottingham on the day ap-
pointed for the ceremony. ’

¢ According to proclamation, upon -the 35th day of August
(1643,) the standard was erected sbout six of the clock in the
evening of a very stormy and tempestuous day. The king him-
self with a small train rode to the top of the Castle hill, Varney
the Knight Marshal, whbo was standard bearer, carrying the
standard, which was then erected oti that place, with little other
ceremony than the sound of drums and trumpets : melancholy
men observed many ill presages about that time. The standard
was blown down the same night it had been set up, by a very
strong and unruly wind, and could not be fixed again inud.y
or two, till the tempest was allayed, &c.”

Dering, and Thoruton, as well as Throsby, speak of its Invug
been erected on the 38d; but this must aliude merely to the
usual hoisting of the standard in the castle on the king’s arrival,
which was on the 22d, and which is done even at the present
day- at Windsor when his Majesty is there, but the forma}
erection of it, agreeable to the proclamation, was that which took
place on the Standard hill. The king’s declaration on - this im-
portant day, was, after setting up the standard, and the cere-
mony of blessing his arms, * that he would govern according
to the known laws of the land ; and if he failed in these things’
he would expect no relief from man, nor protection from
Heaven.” .

Before we quit the environs ofthe castle, it is necesary to
take some further notice of the

. Rives Laxz,
as far at least as it is here locally connected with the town. In
88 old perambulation of the forest taken in the 16th of Henry
the
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mpoh, and generally, admiced for its very light and elegant
front, built in the lulmutyle of architecture; it stands on St.
Mary’s hill, and is a great ornament to that part of the town.
Here, we cannot avoid doing Nottingham the justice of record-
{og the sentiments of an intelligent forcigmer respectiog it.*

“ This of all the towns I have yet seen, except London,
ullnul to me to be one of the best; and is undoubtedly the
eleanest, Every thing here wore amodern appearance; and 3
Jazge.place, in the ceatre, scarcely yielded to a London square
in point of beauty. Nostingbam lies high, and makes a beau-
tifnl appearance at a dilmee, with its neat high bouses, red
r00fs, and its lofty steeples. i

We notice the state of Gardesing in Nottingham and its
neighbourhood, merely for the purpose of recording one or
two curious facts.. It appears that seon afier the Conquest, as
siready mentioned, the king gave to. William Peverell ten
wecres to make an appleorchard (ad fusiendwn Pomerium,) and
which is supposed, from the difference in measure, .to have con-
stituted great part of the present perk, We have no records,
however, of its having been planted with {rait trees. .

In later times, we are told by Dering, shat the gardeners of
Nottingham were not very skilful, until after the arrival of Mar-
shall Tallard, and the other French officers taken st Blenkeim,
who * resided in Mrs. Newdigate’s house in the Cutle gate, and
wade very fine gardens there.”

. The Supply of water, a thing so necessary in & populous
place, has of late heen much complpined of. Throsby
observes, generally, that the wells, like the cellats, are
qften of the depth of 36 -yards, and the . whole descent
‘through 2 body of rock : but a great jpart of the water
which is used in Nottingham, -is supplied by water works, which
have becoine profitable to tha proprieters. . The editor of a.re-
cent local guide, however, cowplains that the place camnot
boast of good, purv, and wholesome water; and -he asserts

€6 .hu

*Travels in England, mostly on feot, by Morits, a Prussian clergyman, and
@ professor of one of the German universities, 1784,
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room being established, whose list of newspapers ‘were pab-
lished, and were all, if not the decided organs, at least the Qe-
cided partigans, of one side. We will not make any obser-
wations on the liberality of this arrangement; it is sufficient to
say, that another newsroom has been proposed, on a true liberal
- plan, without reference to party politics, -or local prejudices
This isas it should be, -and will undoubtedly accord more with
the general spirit of the town; for that the gemeral spirit is a
liberal one, however it muy have beeh warped by noisy or
designing partizans, is evident from the unity and active be-
nevolence so particularly displayed in several of the charita.
ble establishments already noticed. But in Nottinghem it must
ever be the case, asin other places, thet those who are really
tiberal aad candid are silent and quiet, too eften indeed -su-
pine, whilst those who make liberality of sentiment their stalk-
ing borse are at least clamorous, if not intolerant. -
. Whilst doing justice to the inhabitants at the present day, we
mest not, however, forget an ancient distich:

“ Noa nisi confingams, possum landare Nottisghaw, .
Gens fastet atque focus, sordidus ille locus.”

And which has been, though not very elegantly, translated :

¢ T cannot without lye and shame,

Cemmend the town of Nottingham,
The People and the fuel st
The place as sordid as a Sink !”

‘This opprobrium, if it ever had truth on its side, is now com-
pletely done away ; let us then turn to more agreeable subjects.
That the state of genteel society here has long been ona
fashionable scale is evident from the statement of Dering, that,
in the middle of the last century, there were 400 saddle horses,
above F30 ceach, chaise,- and team horses, 11 gentlemen’s
coaches and chariots, a considerable number of chaises and
S : : ‘ " ¢hairs,
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displays a profusion of ornamental fancy werk, and bas a light
gallery supported by the pillars of the hall. On entrance, a
Bacchus, of elegant workmanship, smiles vpon the stranger,
who cannot fail of being much strack-mot only with the ele-
gence, but with the convenience of arrangement, which displays
itself on’ all sides, particularly in the easy communication from
the hall to the various apartments,

Yet, with all this elegance, a moment’s consideration destroys
the effect, as there is something particularly incongruous in this
style of architecture in our climate. The original Rotunda of
Palladio, of which this house is a copy, is the Villa Capra near
Vicenza in Italy, one of the most celebrated works of that
great restorer of ancient architecture, and which is situated
about a mile from the city gates. Nothing, as Mr. Dallaway
ebsarves,* can exceed either the plan or elevation of the ori-
ginal in simplicity and commodiousness ; and its elegance has
often excited a desire of imitation, and an ambition of im-
provement, which, however, have always failed, from a viola-
tion of that simplicity which is the real cause of all the excel-
lence of Palladio’s work. In this point he considers Mere-
worth Castle and Footscray Place in Kent, which, like this of
Nuthall temple, are imitations of the Villa Capra, to have to-
tally failed; as the four porticoes which constitute their decora-
tion are ill adapted to our climate, whilst the filling them up
with apartments, which has in some instances taken place, is
still a greater solecism in architecture, .

GREYSLEY parish is the largest in the county ; and is said to
be twenty miles in circumference. It has a handsome spacious
church with a lofty embattled tower, in which are four good
bells. The whole is kept in good order; but the value of the
living is said to be very unequal to its extensive duties. There
are some monuments of the Rollestons, Millingtons, &c. but
none remaining of the ancient possessors, of whom the Canti-
lupes had license to cmbattle their mansion house. This is to-

tally
# Dallaway on the Artw.
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portion ¢han any other species of the fossil in the kingdom.
The pleasantest ramble for the tourist in this part of the envi-
rons of Nottingham, after passing the heavy sandy road which
leads to Radford, is to pass through that village, and to cross
the Erwash canal and the river Lene, along whose banks he
may trace some very pleasing scenery. He then, leaving Wol-
laton parkwall on his left, arrives at the village of Worraron,
in which there is a very ancient church, well deserving of at-
tention, and dedicated to St. Leonard, with a very good spire,
containing six bells. This church is very neatly pewed, and
has a small organ; in it is also the vault of the Middleton
family, but there are no modern monuments : gjj the ancient
ones, however, described by Thoroton are in good preserva-
tion. Amongst these, is one to Richard Willoughby, Esq. and
his wife, who died about 1481 : it resembles an ancient fire-
place in a Gothic hali; and in the centre is a large grating,
inside of which lies the representation of a skeleton on the floor.
Here is also a monument of Henry Willoughby, in armour,
with two female figures on one side, which lie in a line, and are
just his length. He is in the attitude of prayer ; and the lower
part of the altar contains four figures, two of which are sons in
armour, and two daughters in the costume of the time. Three
Gothic arches in the body of the tomb shew a statue of a corpse
in grave clothes. The date is 1528, no less than eighty-three
years before the institution of Baronets; yet the inscription on the
tomb has « miles pro corpore rcgis, &c. Baronettus,” which, how-
ever, Thoroton considers as a mistake for « Bannerettus,” and
of which several other instances might be adduced.

The village is extremely rural; and in it is a neat villa looke
ing house with pleasing grounds, belonging to Mr. Martin
Steward to the Middleton estates. Leaving the village, the
roid leads to the Erwash Cunal, along whose towing path there
is a very pleasant ramble, by some extensive coal pits, from
whence we cross a common, to the Bramcote Hills, near which
is a modern built house, of John Longdon, Esq. called Bramcote

: House.
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templation of her being the primary cause of the erection
apd establishment of Chelsea Hospital, as an asylum for dise
abled soldiers, and for which she actually gave the ground on
which it stands, as an enconragement to the design.* Her lat-.
ter end too was honourable to her, as Dr, Jennison, who -
preached her funeral sermon, adduced satisfactory evidence
that she died a sincere and contrite Christian. Such, as ber bi-~
ographer has observed, was Nell Gwynne; her failings must
be admitted by all; but the most rigid moralist cannot with-
hold from her the praise of many good and amiable qualities.
Bat to quit this digression, to which we were led by a recollec- -
tion of this very capital portrait, let us now proceed towards
. WiLrorD, a most delightful village on the banks of the Trent,
and which contains several very neat villas, belonging to some
people of opulence in Nottingham. The village is ‘altogether
neatly built, and extremely rural. The church stands close to
the Trent, and is not only an handsome object in itself, but also
commands a most pleasing view of Nottingham and its vicinity.
1t is dedicated to St. Wilfrid, and the name is evidently a con-
traction of Wilfrid’s ford, as there is both a ford and a ferry
close by ; the tower is low, but the nave and two side aisles are
capacious and kept in good order, and the chancel has a very
neat altar piece. It seems to have beenanciently a Roman station,
as many Roman coins were dug up here a few years ago, most
of which were of the latter emperors. '
Wilford House, a neat modern building, is the seat of John
Smith Wright, Esq. Turning from this village towards the
bank of Trent, we have a view of the steep cliff on which
" CrirroN HaLL
stands deeply embowered in groves of oak and elm, and most
pleasingly situated to command the most extensive prospects
over the Trent, the town of Nottingham, and an immense tract
* ‘ of
® A public house in the vicinity of that hospital, and much frequented by
its inmates, still exhibits a rude representation of her head ; and there, as
well as in the hospital, Nell Gwoynne, bas long been a standing toast,
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mear the place a strong fortification raised in Sir Richard Wil
lis’s time, (as I remember) and called the king’s sconee, which,
by his Majesty’s special command then in the Scots quarters
on the north side of the river Trent, was about the sixth of May
1646, with the town and castle and the rest of the fortresses, con-
cluded by commissions of the Right Honourable John Lord
Bellasis the last governor, to be surrendered the Saturday fol-
lowing, though it is said, that Mr. 8mith, the valiant mayor,
upon his lordship’s communicating to him the king’s order,
urged the governor with tears, to trust God and sally, rather
than think of yielding the town, which indeed at that time suf-
fered more by the plague within than the enemy without.”

The Beacon Hill was the scene of this action between Prince
Rupert, and the Parliamentarian army under Sir John Mel-
drum; and a MSS, recorded by Mr. Dickinson, says « the
prince advanced up the hill, at the descent whereof he espies
four bodies of horse standing in readiness to receive him; and
charging and routing these horse, drove them quite out of the
field beyond their own work, foot and cannon, some into the
island, and others to Muskham bridge, pursuing them with that
expedition, that he besieged them in their own intrenchment
at the Spittle with his horse, before his foot came within four
miles.”’

During the second siege in 1644, an extraordinary circum-
stance is related to have taken place of one Clay, a trades-
man of\some eminence residing in the market square, who, as
is recorded on his monument in the church, is said to have
dreamed three successive times in one night, that his house was
in’flames. At the conclusion of the last dream he got up much
confused, and caused his whole family to leave the house ; very
soon after which, a bombshell from Beacon hill fell on his habi-
tation, and, passing through every floor, was set on fire. .

Much gallantry was displayed during the third siege ; and it
has been particularly recorded, that on the first of January
1645, the Newarkers made a most determined sally upon Poyntz’s
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from all suspicion of amorgus inclination.  Regulations so
strict could not fail of producing.a decent and orderly behavioar
in these, almost monastic, institations; ' nay, were perhaps
very necessary, if we are to believe all the stories of monkish
knavery and wickeduness so often bandied about at the time of
the Reformation. But scandal was even busy in the 17th cen-
tury, when one Gervase Lee was fined in the Star chamber for
a libe] contained in a ballad, which Mr. Rastall has preserved ;
one stanza of which runs thus :

¢ Aguin they hold of their Virgin Mary

Ecce quem bomum est cohabiture ;

And neither keep bakehouse, brewhouse, nor dairy,
Nor any residence, nor tell us Querel”

The whole Establishment wow consists of sizteen prebendaries,
or canons holding prebends, sir vicars choral, organist, siz sing-
ing men, sz choristers, and sz boys as probationers, a regis-
ter to the chapter, a treasurer, auditor, verger, &c.

Here also ave two annusl syneds, at which all the Notting-
hamshire clergy sttend; and over which a certain number of
the prebendaries and other clergymen are nominated by the
archbishop of York to preside.

The civil government is distinct from that of the county in
general, and called the « Soke of Southwell cum Scrooby.”
Adjoining to the church is a Free school under the care of the
chapter, the master of which is chosen by them, but must be
approved by the archbishop.

There are also two fellowships and two scholarships in St.
John’s College, Cambridge, to be presented by the master and
fellows of that college to such persons as they shall think
proper, who have been choristers of Southwell. These were
founded by Dr. Keton, canon of Salisbury, in the reign of Henry
the eighth.

With respect to the PREBENDS, there were ten existing before
the Conquest : the most ancient are the three belonging to

Norwell
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intelligence might always be conveyed by signals. Mr; Ras-
tall is of opinion that these works are not Roman ; it is true that
they may have originally been British; but that they were also
of Roman occupancy is proved by the discovery of the coins
and other antiquities.

Halam is a small village, with some rude paintings in its
church windows. Throsby has given some drawings of these ;
and, as they are nothing more than Adam digging and Eve
spinning, they almost tempt us to date their origin from an
older period than the introduction of armorial blazonry upon
glass in this kingdom.

HarrougaToN, or Hawton, was remarkable for an ancient

- mansion house upon the prebendal estate, which Mr. Rastall
says was very dark and gloomy, with an appearance of consi-
derable antiquity, and sitoatéd within a very few yards of the
parish church. It was, upon the whole, not unlike many of the
remains of old monasteries that have been continued to our day ;
and this sort of sombrous grandeur may possibly bave given rise
to the report of its having once belonged to a monastic society.
Great alterations have indeed lately taken place; but Throsby
records that during the repair, in taking up the kitchen floor,
there was found a large stone about the size of a mill stone,
under which was a large key ; and which was supposed to have
been left there by design. Some time afier, this place was
more minutely examined, and it proved to be the mouth of a
cavity, enclosed by a circular wall, and traced for some dis-
tance by the workmen until their further search was inter-
rupted by a quantity of water. * He adds, that there was a tra-
dition in Southwell, of a subterraneous passage from this place to
Thurgarton ; and that in taking down a stack of chimnies in this
‘house, there was found in the middle of them a large recess, in
which were many human skeletons quite entire and uncovered
with earth, chiefly those of children! We will not vouch for
the truth of these discoveries; but, if correct, they seem not in-

9 o ’ consistemnt
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the county ; particularly Scercking swor to which we descend,
and where the tourist, if fatigued, may be elegantly accommo-
dated at Scarthing moor Inn, asingle and extremely elegant house
on the right hand sidé of the road. It is cased with a stonelike
composition, and has a very. handsome.corridore arranged as a
greenhouse, connecting it with the: offices, with a shrubbery in
front, and presenting all the agremens of a private mansion.
The moor being now in a state of inclosure presents a pleas-
ing scene of cultivation, contrasting finely with some WIH.
though flat, scenery in its vicinity. - -
Two miles further of excellent road. bring us to

TUXFORD,*

- Oflen called Tuxford in the Clay, from its situation in thut -
division of the hundred, and well kmn asa poutmg mge oi
the north road. " S

Oold Barnaby in. delcnhng bis northern fontc, nyl

 Thence to'ru;tud unh cu,nmp.
Where poor travellers find such way there;
Ways like bird-lime seem to shew them,
Seats are Syrts to such as know them ;

Th’ ivy bangs there, Jvig has™ bung there,
Wine is never venided strong there.””. -

If the wine is not better than in .B'm:nal')y s days, more of it.
is now sold there, for the town consists principally of inns for
the great resort to it asa thoroughfare,

The town is but small, but is of more modern appearance”
than many others in the county, baving been burned down on
the eighth of Sept. 1702, Much of what mrebmlt. however, cone
sists of farm residences ; and there is scarcely any trade in the
place except in hops, of which a considerable quantity is raised

in the vicinity, ‘The Fair for this article takes place on the .
25th

® Gough says, * branded, to.a proverb, for its miry situation.”
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trade. Thoroton gives a view of the ancient edifice, and calls
it «“ a dwelling of more magnitude than splendour;”’ in the
preaent one, however, elegance and comfort are united.. The
pleasure grounds are laid out in a good style, and the park is
extensive.

The churchis newly built, and contains a magnificent maw-
soleum to the memory of the late worthy proprietor,

MarNnAx lies on the east side of the great north road, near
to the bank of Trent. Though bat one village, it consists of two
bamlets, and is a cheerful, pleasant, though retired, spot. Wil-
liam de Cawres ¢ gave for his soul’s health, and that of Agnes
his wife, to God, St. Mary, and St. Cuthbert at Radford, and the
brethren serving God there,” (which he considered no doubt
as the firm of his heavenly bank,) free passage for their servants
and carriages in bis ferry boat here !”

The church here was the property of the knights templars,
upon whose extirpation it went to the knights hospitallers of
St. John of Jerusalem.

- Here is a fair on the 12th of September for horses, horned
cattle, swine, and merchandize.

At one period, the Marnhams, Skegby, and FLEDBOROUGH,
were considered as forming one village ;- but the latter we are
told by an intelligent antiquary,* has been a much larger place
than it now is. There have indeed been no antiquities ever
discovered in the inclosures; but this he attributes to their con-
sisting principally of grass lands, and not having been disturbed
by the plough.

The church is a spacious edifice, and has once been adorned
with much scriptural painting in the windows.  Part of this con-
sisted of the twelve apostles, with an article of the creed along
with each’; but time and neglect have made great ravages among
them. The ancient raised monument in the choir, is tradis

tionally

* Vide Pegge's Bib, Top.gritan. Vol, I11. p. 486,
9
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His second son, Lowever, (Denzil Holles) also born a%
Haughton, took a more active part in revolutionary politics, so
much so as to be in the list of members whom Charles so unad-
visedly accused of high treason. He was born in 1597, and in
1627 came into the House of Commons; in which year he be-
gan to display his activity, being one of the persons who actu-
ally by force held the speaker in the chair, until the well known
resolutions were read. The imperious conduct of Charles to-
wards him in 1641 gave him a decided turn against the court
party ; yet he, though afterwards a Parliamentarian, was no
only a steady opposer of the principles which took away his
monarch’s life, but was evén obnoxious t6 Cromwell himself,
for his resistance to his unconstitutional wsurpations: He now
saw the absurdity of a democratic government in such
countr'y as England, and joined with ardour in the proceedings
which brought about the Restoration ; and so convinced was the
second Charles of his loyalty and integrity, that he called him
to the upper house, by the title of Lord Holles.

The other leading particulars of this noble family may be
found in any of the peerages; we mention these personages as
eonnected with the biography of the place.

Elkesley, near Haughton, has little worth noticing; but Gam+
ston, or Gaimeston, is a econsiderable village, and great part of
s population have long been employed in the manufacture of
Candlewick, Like all other manufacturing places, it has a nums
ber of sectavies, of whom the Baptists are the most numerous,
ks church has orce been antique: but its brasses being all de
stroyed or stolen, and its monumental ornaments having syffered
beautifying from the whitewash brushes of the Vandals in office
a few years ago, there is nothing to interest the antiquary.

Proceeding along the north road we come to-

RETFORD.,
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Fave added accommodations for six more. It is now a low and
ancient looking edifice, in the centre, with two advanced wings
of the same style; bat there are two advanced fronts of modem
erection in the Mezzo Gothic, done with some degree of tastes
and the whole fdrming an interesting object in the outskirts of
the village on the road by Babworth to Worksop. It now snp-
ports sixteen brethren, who have 10/ per annum each, with
clothing, coals, &c. part of a garden each, an orchard for the
whole ; and, as they have honest trustees, they live in comfort
under good rules. It is dedicated to the Holy Trinity; and the
Subdean of Lincoln is always the master. '

This village guffered considerably in the heavy flood which
took place in 1795, and rose to the height: of three feet in the
market place. The torrent not only tore up the pavementin
several places, but actually destroyed some houses. Since the
Chesterfield canal was finished, West Retford has progressively
flourished, and may now be reckoned a pleasant thriving
place.

West Reiford Halt is in its immediate yicinity, and is a seat
of the Emerson family. An extensive lawn, watered by a gen-
tle stream, and highly ornamented with thriving graups of
trees and shrubs, lies before its principal front, and though
lying on a flat, yet the home views are very pleasing, and may
be considered extensive. It isa matter of great boast here, that
his Royal Highness the Prince of Wales spoke highly of its situ-
ation in one of his journies from the north.

“It may be interesting to those locally connected wth Retfords
to trace’ its history in times comparatively recent; we there-
fore give the entry in the visitation of Sir Richard St. George,
Norroy king of arms in 1614.%

« The town and borough of East Radford in the county of
Nottingham is the Kingstown, and hath been an auncient borough
as appeareth by an auncient grante made by Edward the second,
who graunted the town in fee farm to the burgesses of the same,
' paying

¢ Harl. Coll. p. 1400. 3. ‘
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aggreeable ‘object amidst- the surrounding and overshadowing
foliage.

About half a mile from the village are some small remusins of
the Gilbertine priory, dedicated to St. Helen, and founded for
six canons by Roger Fitz Ranuiph de Maresey before 1193;
At the dissolution it was valued at 601,

- A farm house now stands on its scite; part of its cloysters,
some of the cells, and what appears to have ‘been a corner of
its church, still mark part of its boundaries; but these are going
fast to decay, and are now occupied-as carthouses, and filled
with peultry roosts. Yet there is still enough left, though in
detached masses, to form even a conspicwous part of a small
QGothic residence, if its situation was to tempta man of taste;
but it stands low, and though the scenery around it is pleasingly
retired, it has not any of those cbarms sought after by modern
builders, whose primary object seems to be to see and be
seen.

" Crossing the Idle by Mattersey bridge, a pleasing rurul road,
shaded by extensive plantations, leads to Drakelow, the princi
pal building in which, though it scarcely can be called a bam:
Tet, is the Inn, which is not only comfortable and commodious,
but forms a good object in the scenery both from its style of
building and situation, being erected with that intention, by Mr.
Acklom, whose long life seems to have been principally occu-
pied in improving the country around him. This is also one
of the depots for the Chesterfield and Trent canal which passes
by here, through a tunnel, 250 yards in length, 15 feet high,
and of the same width, of good workmanship, and in the cutting
of which many coins of Constantine, and human bones, were
found. There is no doubt but that this has been a Roman sta-
tion; for here ran a Roman road, which, theugh nearly obki-
terated, has yet some faint traces, and was evidently connected
with the neighbouring station of Agelocum, or Littleborough.

This canal pursues a winding course of two miles through
Mr. Acklom’s estate, and the turnpike road from Gainsborough

9 to
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the last certainly s0; a curious piece of poultry by Barlow, a
painter of such eminence as to have been engraved by Hollar;
a piece of still life from the pencil of Caravaggio; another, artist
unknown, but extremely well done; an ancient architectural
piece; and two modern landscapes done with marble dust of
different colours, both curious and elegant.

The whole manor is so well wooded as to appear oné great
ornamental plantation ; and a well conducted walk round the
home grounds is led for upwardsof a mile in a circuitous route;
80 as to connect the exterior woods with the domestic scenery.
That part which accompanies the canal is particularly pleasing,

baving a fine prospect of the well wooded eminences on the
north and west sides. The canal too, which leads to Claworth,
has been rendered a pleasing variety in domestic arrangement ;
there being a boat on it, which in fine weather carries the
whole family to their parish church.

On all the surrounding eminences Mr. Acklom. has Jjudi-
ciously placed his new built farm houses; these are not only or-
namental to the grounds, and indeed to the whole estate, but
have even proved an economical measure, notwithstanding
their small extra expense ; as houses built in an ornamental,
yet plain strong style, are most easily kept in repair, the oc-
cupants being in some measure obliged to take more care of
them, to keep them cleaner, and to have much less agricul-
tural lumber about them, than is generally the case with an old
farm house, and which not only stands in the way of trifling re-
pairs, but in fact often renders them necessary.*

Everton parish, to the north west, contains the hamlet of
Scqftworth holden of the see of York, to which Richard Ack~

lom,

® « Jonathan Acklom, Esq. of Wiseton, on the in¢losare of Wiseton, Mat-
tersey, Everton, Misson, and Scrooby, porsued the plan of placing new farad
houses central to their respective grounds, and completed séven with large ap-
purtenances, dove cotes, granaries, cow-houses, &c. The same has been’

done more or less in other new inclosures.”
Vide Eowe's Survey of Nutts:
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called Misne, or Myssen, as is supposed from its intermixture
with Lincolnshire, being, even at the present day, partly in the
two countics. It seems to have followed the same descent as
the lands in its vicinity; for it belonged first to the family of
Maresey, then to the prior and monks of Mattersey, and, after
- several other changes, is now vested in Richard Acklom, . Esq.
who is impropriator. It has long had the advantage of a water
communication with the Trent, for, before the present canal
was cat, the Idle was thus far navigable.

The scenery around it is of a very curious kind, consisting
of a widely extended plain, level as the surface of a calm sea,
" and presenting to the spectator the idea of space unbounded,
when seen from the neighbouring heights. In_fact it is quite
distinct and different from what is meant by a plain in the com-
mon acceptation of the word, or, as Mr. Gilpin has very judi-
ciously described another appearance of the same nature, . the
idea of this kind which such scenes as Salisbury plain suggest,
* is much less pure. The inequality of the ground there, sets
bounds to the idea. It is the ocean in a storm; in which the
idea of extension is greatly broken, and intercepted, by the tor-
bulence of the waves—this gives us the idea of solid water,
rather than of land, if we except only the colour,

—=———————jinterminable meads,
And vast Savannahs, where the wandring eye
Unfix’d, is in a verdant ocean lost.”

This, like the plain he described,* is one of those extensive
tracts from which the sea, in a course of ages, has retired. With
the eye it seems impossible to fix its limits, for it ranges many
miles in every direction, and softens at last into the azure
. distance of Yorkshire, whilst its foreshortening is partly marked
- by long lines of inclosure studded with villages, and dim dis-
" covered spires. _

MisTerToN is in this vicinity ; and has long been a consi-
derable
¢Burgh Marsh in Cumberland.
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The village is extensive, though not very large with respect
to its number of houses, which are mostly the residences of the
farmers who hold the neighbouring lands. The church isa very
handsome edifice, is dedicated to St. Peter and St. Paul, and
under this double guarantee seems to have been well taken care
of, for it is well paved in the inside and kept very clean, whilst
its pinnacled tower forms a fine object in the landscape.
Throsby records a curious epitaph of an old lady, Winifrid Ver-
non, who is made to address the reader in a way which some
wicked wits have interpreted very differently from the. good
lady’s meaning. It is certainly whimsical, but its interpreta~
tion too gross to be permitted to sully our pages.

Upon the whole this place will afford amusement to three
classes of tourists; to him who can play upon and laugh ata
sepulchral joke upon aged maidenhood ; to him who is pleased
with extensive and curiously contrasted prospects; and to him
who can feast upon antiquarian reflections ; for these latter must
rise rapidly in any man’s mind who contemplates this spot,
which, having lain out of the track of former antiquarian tourists,
seems to offer a rich mine to those who will- investigate it
Horsley and Stukeley seem both to have been so occupied with
Agelocum in the vicinity, as to have almost entirely overlooked
this place: but we have no doubt that an investigation, pursued
upon the plan of that of the indefatigable Sir Richard Hoare on
Salisbury plain, would amply repay any trouble or expense
incurred, and perhaps throw considerable light upon the early
history of this part of the kingdom. :

CLAWORTH is a pleasing little rural village on the banks of the
canal; its church is strictly in unison with the place, and its
Gothic tower, and almost darkened pointed windows, suit well
with the gloom produced by the overhanging foliage. To him
who would retire from society, without flying to a desart,
‘Claworth offers an asylum, as his repose would never be dis-
turbed except on the sabbath, when the neighbouring gentry
assemble at divine service, The church is dedicated to St.

Peter,
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of Antoninus had a ferry over the Frent, and which is continued
at Littleborough to this day, constituting perhaps the oldest
¢customary usage in the empire, and that without let or interrup-
tion. Thoroton was of the same opinion with Camden respecting
the fixing of the station at Eaton ; but tliis he did from a com-
parison of the distances on the iter, and from a curious coincie
" dence of the British and Roman names; for Id, in the Bri-
tish, signifies corn; thérefore Id and tom may signify a
“ place of corn,” bearing a strong resemblance to the Roman
Segelocim. But if Camden in his early opinions forgot
the ferry, so Thoroton seems to have jumped over a river, not
~ recollecting that Idleton is the town on the Idle. It would
indeed be an idle business to pursue these Teveries any forther;
we may just observe, therefore, that Burton in his notes upon the
Itinerary, places Agelocam or Segelocum, (for he shews that
the Romans indiscriminately used, or omitted, the S) at Listle
borough, in which he is followed by Stukely, who thinks, how.
ever, that Segelocum may have been'a corruption of the origi-
nal name in later times. His description of it at the early part
of last century, is that it is a small village three miles above
Gainsborough, justupon the edge of the water, and in an angle,
Agel-Auk from Frons Aque he thinks a pertinent etymology ;
and adds that it seems only to have been environed by a single
ditch, of a square form, with the water running quite round it;
for to the west where Whitesbridge is, there is a watery valley
which hems it in, so that it was a station of considerable strength.
The church, as he observes, stands upon the highest ground ; and
the Trent had not only washed away part of the eastern side of the
town,but foundations and pavements were then visible in thebank.
In 1684, when the inclosures between the bridge and town
were first plowed up, many coins of Nerva, Trajan, Hadriam,
Constantine, &c. were found, together with Intaglios of Agate;
and Cornelian, the finest coloured urns and patere, some
wrought in basso relievo, with the workman’s name generally
impressed on the inside of the bottom ; also a Discxs, or Quoit,
with
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deavouring to ascertain the ancient name of Trent.® Tt is but
a small hamlet, with some remnant of a chapel; but, not hav-
ing been mentioned in the Norman survey, has been supposed
not then to have had existence: if so, the conjectures founded
on its name must fall to the ground.

Raurron near the Trent has been in possession of the ma-
ternal ancestors of the family of Eyre, ever since the Conquest.
In the reign of Henry the eighth, a mansion house was built
here, but pulled down about a century ago, nothing of it re-
maining except a very curious gateway highly ornamented in
the style of that time. It has still some armorial bearings in
pretty good preservation; and a good drawing of it may be
seen in Throsby’s Notts, where much of their modern descent
may be found, both from the Babyngtons and from Lady
Pakynton of Westwood House in Worcestershire, the pious
authoress of the « Whole Duty of Man.” Here is a very large
church dedicated to All Saints, with a lofty tower; and in the
chancel, and other parts of it, are many monumental memorials
of Stanhope, Babyngton, Eyre, &c.

Norte Levesron is a large village with a commodious
church; but we mention it particularly on account of a curious
mode of dividing, and marking the divisions of the common lands,
by a-set of names applied to the twenty-eight parts of every
division. The plan is certainly a regular one, and much
praised by Mr. Throsby ‘and his correspondent Mr. Shillitoe ;
but we conceive that every plowman must carry his surveyor
with him to the field, asthe ground is marked out almost to
inches. Some of the names also are as curious as the mode of
division, and shew some genius in their invention; these are,
Cicely Oxgang, Doll in tenure, Mary Dole, Cockermeat, Poory
Dole, Scutt, Rose, Wyemark, &c.

Its companion Soutu LEVERTON is also an agreeable village
with a neat church, and possessing a most extensive prospect

' over

® Vide page 28,

[
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EaTon, or Idleton, though now a small village, and anly re
markable for being a prebend of Southwell, was a place of some-
consequence before the Norman Conquest ; for here were ten
manors, and ten thanes, each thane having a Hall: at the'
syrvey, however, they were reduced to one manor.

Onpsatt lies a small distance to the left of the north ruad, and
is worthy of notice for an agricultural fact recorded by Mr.
Young in one of his tours, who observes that there had then been
recently practised some very uncommon improvements by
means of hops, particularly by Geo. Brown, Esq. of Ordsall, and
- Mason, Esq. of the same neighbourhood. The praise.
worthy attempts of these gentlemen were on a black bog three
feet deep, its spontaneous growth nothing but rushes, and let
for but three shillings per acre : this was drained at a small ex-
pense by open cuts, and planted with hops in squares of six
feet; and in this they succeeded so well as actually to clesr 635
per acre. :

A fair instance of the practice and principles of puritanic
times may be drawn from an act of the Ramp Parliament in:
1652, against the rector of this place, Dr. Marmaduke Moor ;
whose estate was forfeited for treason, and himself sequestrated
from his living, for the heinous and damnable offence of playing:
cards, three several times, with Aisown wife!!!

Baswortn Hail, the seat of the Hon. J. Bridgeman Simp-
son, isabout a mile to the west of Retford, on the Worksop
road. It isa plain comfortable white-fronted residence, having
had considerable additions made to it by the present possessor.
The pleasure grounds are in as good a style as the ground would
admit of, and do great credit to the skill of Mr. Repton whe
laid them out: the plantations, having now acquired a consider-
able growth, assimilate well with the older woody scenmery
around, and serve much to embellish the open lawn, and well
formed though small piece of water in the front.

The church, a neat Gothic building, stands a short distance
from the hall, and is in very good order both within and with-

aub
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forty feet long, twenty-two broad, and eighteen in height,
with a circular bow window of twenty-one feet span, so as to
form a very agreeable proportion. The chimney piece is ex-
tremely elegant, consisting of Ionic pillars formed of Egyptian
granite, fluted with stripes of white marble, and supporting
the frieze in which is a tablet with an ancient sacrifice in bas
relief. The furniture is appropriately rich, with the beaaty of
the apartment ; and the chairs and carpet are of crimson velvet,
embroidered with yellow silk. The view from this apartment,
and from mauy of the others is extremely grand, looking over
a fine piece of water, winding through the lawn for a mile and
a half, and of the breadth of from fifty to seventy yards.
Speaking of Mr. Mellish’s improvements, Mr. Young ob-
serves that he has executed. undertakings, which shew an acti-
vity not to be surpassed. He made ten miles of road, at his
own expense, and a river four miles long, and ten yards wide,
as a drainage to a large extent of low land in the centre of his
estate, capable of being made as fine meadow as any in Eng-
land. He also built several farm houses, and.above thirty cot-
tages, all in the most substantial manner, of brick and tile;
« works of the nublest tendency, that will always carry their
own eulogy.” He also built here a handsome and extensive
pile of stabling; and ornamented the estate with upwards of
two hundred acres of plantations which are now arrived ata
thriving growth. :
SerLey HALL, now the property and residence of Lord Vis-
count Galway, (not the Earl of Galloway, as asserted in a modern
work,) was in early times the manor of Alured the Saxon; but
at the Norman Conquest was given to Roger de Busli, of whom
Gislebert his man held it. From the Busli family it came to
that of Mowbray, and in the reign of king John, Roger de
Mowbray, for what reason is not assigned, gave it to Maud de
Moles, who married Hugh, a man very likely without a sir-
name, as he immediately adopted that of de Serlby. For many
generations it remained in this family, until the last male, An-
' thony,
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sadddle, end same dogs, all as large as life. It also contains
suother figure as large ps life, but who, of himself, weoyld not
havs requiced such a breadth of cauvas; this is Jeffery Hudsan,
the famous dwerf, who is in the agt of striving to keep back twe
small dogs with collars on. This picture having come into the
possession of queen Anne, was by her presented to Addison,
from whom it came to the Arundels, of which family is i
present noble possessor.

If the tourist crosses a bridge at the eastend of the town, he
will find a very pleasant road leading across an inclosed moor to

BAWTRY,
which being partly in this county, having its division marked
by a small current of water in the yard of the Crown Ino, must
be partly noticed.
Qld Barnaby in pursuing his poetic drunken route, tells us.

‘ Thence to Bawtree, as I cawe there,

From the bushes near the lane there,

Rusl’d & Tweale in gesture flanting,

With a leering eye and wanton;

But my flesh I did subdae it,

Fearing lest my purse should rue it."”®

'The traveller, however, may now visit Bawtry without in-

curring such danger, if he chooses, and he canntt fail of being
struck with a very elegant mansion on the left, on entering the
town, extremely pleasing in itself, and from its situation com-
manding the most charming prospect over Nottinghamshire.
In mentioning this place, indeed, we fear that we have over-
stepped our limits ; for the line of division of the two shires is
here so very undulating, that an unguarded tourist may easily
commit a trespass, and even in the middle of the high road may
shake hands with a friend in the next county. We shall, there-
fore, just repeat that Bawtry is the market for Blyth and the
vicinity, and is always extremely well supplied for its demand.

Its
* ¢ 8ed inflexi carni pmnam;

Timens miscre Crumenam,” )
Vide Barnaby’s Journey.
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tounclet of Scroby I marked 2 thinges, the paroche chirche not
bigge, but very well builded ex lapide politi quadrato. The
second was a great manor place standinge withyn a mote, and
longging to the archbishup of York, builded yn to courtes,
whereof the first is very ample, and all builded of tymbre,
saving the front of the haule, that is of bricke, to the wyeh 2
cenditur per gradus lapidis. The ynmer courte building, as
far as I marked, was of tymber building, and was net in cumpace
past the 4 parte of the utter courte.”

The archbishops of York had free warren here as early as
the 17th of Edward the second ; and in queen Elizabeth’s reign
this palace was not only considered as excellent.in itself, and
more capacious than that at Southwell, but much more com-
modious for provision, baving a large jurisdiction on the north
side, consisting of very many townsthereabouts.* Even in the
early part of the last century, the park still remained ; but arch-
bishop Sandys having caused it to be demised to his son Sir
Samuel Sandys, the house afterwards became so much ne-
glected that even then it had almost fallen to the ground. No-
thing now remains but some small part incorporated into a farm
house, marking the ancient abode of splendour and hospitality,
and in the garden is an old mulberry tree, which tradition as-
serts was planted by the haughty Wolsey.

The village stands a short distance to the east of the great
road, and merely contains a few farm houses, and the church,
which once was handsome, but now decayed, and possessing
nothing of its ancient grandeur except its lofty spire.

Scrooby Inn, a commodious posting house, stands about half a
mile further on the road; after which we come to Ranskill, and
also to Torworth, two hamlets in the parish of Blyth, principally
supported by the great thoroughfare on the road.

Hopsack, a little to the Southward of Blythe had once a
large house belonging to the Cliftons; there is still a curious
brick gateway and a lodge house, the residence of Mr. Spencer.

At one period the greatest part of this parish had been given

to
* Magaa Britannis, Vol. IV.
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him absolution for half a dozen felonies in addition te the for
mer, provided be had paid beforehand. The last gift was that
of the chapel which was given to Blythe monastery by the joiat
agreement of William de Cressi, and Thomas de Hodesack,
This, however, is but a small part of what was givenin another
part of the parish ; for in the hamlet of Hermeston, William de
Clarifagio, and Avice his wife, daughter and heiress of William
de Tenaia, in the 18th of Stephen, gave to the church of St.
Cuthbert at Radford near Worksop, three bovats of land with.
the common, for the souls of the aforesaid William de Tenaia,.
and Hugh Lovetot; and for the redemption of their own aculs,
and of all their parents and friends, as well living asdead. And
because Hugh de Cressi, Lord of Hedsack, gave sorbe wneasi-
ness to the monks of Radford in the possession of these bovats,
king Henry the second interfered, and ordered him to permit
the holy brothers to enjoy them in peace, otherwise his stew-
grd of Tickhill, should tickle him to some purpose, and see jus-
tice done to these pious gentlemen, who were thus left in quiet
possession of these lands, as well aa of the hamlet of Holm alse

in this parish, which was given, with all things belonging to it, o
the same monastery by Avice de Clarifagio, with consent of her
husband, :

. From this single specimen of one solitary and not very ex-
tensive parish, we may judge of the temporal as well as spiri~
tual influence possessed by those gentry, who by their vows
were bound to poverty, but by their practice were in a fair

way of getting possession of half the lands in the kingdom.
The town of '

WORKSOP

stands on the borders of the forest, nearly in the midst of what
was commonly called in the vicinity, « the Dukery,”  from
the circumstance of there being no less than four principal seats.

of
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Duke of Normanby and Buckingham, by whom she was motlrer
of the last duke of that title; her figure in waxwork is one of
those shewn at Westminster Abbey; Henry Cavendish, Lord
Ogle, who married Lady Elizabeth Percy, danghter of Josce-
line last Earl of Northumberland; same lady, who married
secondly Charles Seymour, Duke of Somerset ;* Charles Caven-
dish, Lord Mansfield; Lady Harriet Cavendish, daughter of the
Duke of Newcastle, married to Lord Harley, afterwards Earl of
Oxford; a curious head, resembling Martin Lxther, but our
Cicerone having no list and not being a connoisseur, it was
with difficulty that the names of any of the portraits could be
obtained except those which had them painted either om
the frames or the canvas, Here are also some very handsome
enamels of the Resurrection, the Magdalen, Christ and the
woman of Samaria, &c.

_ The Drawing Room contains some very superb French plate
glass; and is elegantly filled up with plain pink walls, and light
gilding.

The Breakfast Room has a good likeness of Archbishop Laud
in lawn sleeves, with short hair; a late Duke and one of his
brothers; asmall one of the late Duke when young ; Miss Can-
ning niece to the present duchess.

The Dining Room is 59 feet by 86, and has an elegant coved
cieling. The portraits consist of, Matthew Prior, that eminent
poet, so justly cetebrated for the easy humour and elegant taste
of his writings; he was son of a joiner in the city of London,
yet became secretary to the English embassy in the Congress
at the Hague in 1690, and a gentleman of the king’s bedcham-
ber, &c. being first noticed by the Earl of Dorset and others,
for his classical attainments at Westminster School, whilst liv-

ing

® She was first wife of this proverbially prond duke of Somerset. AQer her

Jeath, he married a second wife ; but even with these companions of his bed

sud bosom he scems to have avoided all familiarity, for one eveniug, when

alone, the sccond duchess having in a graceful matronly manner thiawu her

srm round his neck, he frowned and exclaimed, « Madam! that is a liberty
my first wile never took, and she was a Percy
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plantations, about 2000 acres are brought into a regular and
excellent course of tillage, maintaining at the same time be-
tween three and four thousand sheep, and all in his Grace’s oc-
cupation.” This was fifteen years ago, and great improvemeats
both in planting and in cultivation are still going on under the
auspices of the preseat noble proprietor. Even at the period
when Mr. Young wrote, the then duke had the largest farm yard
in the county ; our researches, indeed, into this part of the
economy were not so minute as those of that intelligent travel.
ler, we shall therefore observe on his authority that even the
« Hog houses are very convenient, in emplying the wash,
grains, &c. directly out of the cisterns through the wall into the
troughs,” In this park also are the remains of two woods of
venerable old oaks, one of which gives name to the place, being
called Clumber Wood, the other is Hardwick wood ; and Mr.
Lowe adds, that since they have been shut in from cattle, the
young trees are springing up surprisingly, from the acorns.
When Mr. Lowe wrote, the whole of these plantations, within
the park, amounted to one thousand eight hundred and forty-
eight acres.*

With respect to the House itself, so much has been said in
its praise, that it is difficult to find novel terms in which to ex-
press its elegance. It has been said that it embraces magni-
ficence and comfort more than any other nobleman’s mansion
in England ; that every thing reflects the highest credit on the
taste displayed in the accommodations and ornaments found-in
this delightful retreat; and that in this princely abode the™
writer of romance, (and why not the reader also?) might enrich
his fancy, and the poet imagine himself wandering through an

enchanted palace.
This

¢ Vide Lowe's Survey, p. 55. * In the extensive enclosures made by his
Grace in Elkesley, Bothamsell, &c. the quick hedges, which are remark-
ably fine, were raised with posts and rails, the thinnings of those plantations.
T was assured, some years since, that sixty miles running measure had been
done in this manner ; and by this time it must amount to double that number."
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ICountess of Linooln, daughter of the Earl of Kildare, in & rich
antique costume, very curious; many family pictures, consist-
dng of the late Lord Linceln, a whole length by Hoare ; the hate
duke’s father and mother; the present duke’s father and
mother ; the late duke, &c.; and a handsome drawing of a
4rose in the ancient chapel at Haughton park near Tuxford,
mow in ruins, but which the present duke is fitting up in order
%0 form a sepuichral abode for fature generations,

‘The Dukes’ Study tras an antique portrait of the first Barl ¢f
Qlare of the present femily’s ancestors ;- Edward Earl of Lin-
coin by Holbein ; Thomas Duke of Newcastle; Mr. Henry Pel-
#am, in his gown as Chancellor of the Exchequer ; his
ddughter Miss Pelham, grandmother of the present duke; Sir
Henry Ciimton, Commander in Chief of the British army,
during part of the American contest: a very remarkable small
original of Henry the cighth, more thoughtful in expression
than his usual portraits; also two small, but well done land-
scapes by a young artist, Binge of Tickhill, patrenized by bis
Grace. -

The Duke and Duchesses’ Bedroom was formerly a stody,
but in the present alteration of the house, is fitting up for -
the above purpose, -Of its old furniture, it still contains an
immense vellum pedigree of the family, not an inappropriate
ernament ; two whole lengths of George the second and queen
Caroline; and a very interesting portrait of Mary Queen of
Scots, evidently done towards the close of her chequered and
wnhappy life; she is in mourning, with slashed sleeves, &c.

The Common Dining Room contains an exquisite Madona
and Child with St. Jokn by Battoni; two fine flower pieces
by Van Noss; two by Teniers, one of cardplayers with the
date 1661, the other a large landscape of a brickfield, &c. but
done in a cold style very unlike the other works of that mas-
ter; a large battle piece well done; first Earl of Lincoln; two
views of Venice, by Canaletti; two cattle pieces by Rosa de
Tivoli; small landscape by Claude Lorraine; a wild landscape

by
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.sentation of a Maudlin str ———— just tarned out of keeping, aad
with eyes red with rage and usquebaugh, tearing off the orne-
-meats her keeper had given her. To add to the disgust raised
by such vulgar expression, her fingers were blooded by her
* lover’s heart that lay before her like that of a sheep for her din-
‘ner. None of the sober grief, no dignity of suppressed an-
guish, no involuntary tear, no settled meditation on the fate she
meant to meet, no amorous warmth tarned holy by despair; in
short all was wanting that should have been there, all was there
that such a story should have banished from a-mind capable of
conceiving such complicated woe: woe so sternly felt and yet
so tenderly. Hogarth’s performance was more ridiculous than
any thing he bad ever ridiculed. He set the price of 400
guineas o it, and had it returned on his hands by the person
for whom it was painted. He took subscriptions for a plate of
it, but had the sense to suppress it. *

Thus far says the late Lord Orford; to which we may add
that Smollet bas introduced the same circumstance into his
novel of Peregrine Pickle, where he makes Pallet the painter
boast of the charms of « bis Cleopatra.”

As a companion to the Sigismunda, there is on the same
side of the apartinent, Artemisia with the cup containing her
husbands ashes, by Guido; also Baptism of Christ, by Battisti
Franco; two landscapes by Poussin; four views of Venice by
Canaletti; two heads expressing Smell and Taste by Rubens,
highly interesting; Magdalen with a crucifix and scull, by Tre-
vissani; country church, by Rubens, inimitable; two attacks
of convoys, by Van der Meulen; a large landscape by Poussin,
with the most accurate and brilliant distauce we have ever wit-
nessed! Flemish . village by Teniers; and the inside of an an-
cient building in a most superb style of architecture, illuminated
both by torch and girandole lights; the artist is unknown, bug
the eflect is exquisite in the coutrast between the general and
fixed glare of the principal light issuing from the girandole and

reflected

* Vide Walpole's Work, Vol, 3. p. 460,
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THORESBY PARK, )

the seat of earl Manvers, is to cross the bridge in Clumber
Park, which he must traverse a mile farther through a succes-
sion of sylvan scenery, when he arrives at a gate opening toa
wild wood lane where there is another park gate leading through
Thoresby park for a course of nearly two miles, during which a
visitor may almost conceive himself rambling midst transatlantic
forests,
‘ « Majestic woods, of every vigorous green,

Stage above stage, high waving o’er the hills :

Or to the far horizon wide diffused,

A boundless deep immensity of shade.”

The mansion itself stands very open, in rather a low situation,
nearly in the centre of the park, and well backed with rising
ground, thickly planted. The old house was burnt down on the
fourth of March 1745, and nothing saved but the family wri»
tings, the plate, and a small part of the best furniture ; after
which, its then possessor the duke of Kingston, grandfather to
the present noble proprietor, built the present edifice.

As amodern tourist has observed,* this is rather a comforta-
ble house, than a magnificent seat ; it consists of a rustic stone
basement, with two stories of brickwork, and the principal front
is ornamented with a tetrastyle portico of the Ionic order, of
& beautiful stone ; the other fronts are regularly decorated.t

The principal entrance is in the basement, opening into the
Hall, which is slightly ornamented with some landscapes, some
sea-pieces, a few good engravings, and a Chiaro Scuro of the
Trojan horse, &c.

The Earl’s Dressing Room opens from the hall, and has some
portraits of Henry earl of Pembroke, 1769 ; Pascal Paoli, 1770,
Colonel Sawyer ; Admiral Medowes, father of the present earl
of Manvers ; also some sea-pieces and medallions.

The Little Drawing Room generally contains many fine paint-

ings ;

® Bray's Tour. t Vitruvius Britanaicus.
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The Admiral’s Galleryis very low, and very plain; but is
hung with a number of interesting sea pieces.

The Countess’s Dressing Room is peculiarly elegant, comfort-
able, and commodious; superbly fitted up indeed, but with
every attention to useful convenience. It is hung, nay we may
say covered, with a profusion of bandsome drawings, land-
acapes, miniatures, &c. amongst which is an inimitable head of
a boy writing. Here are also some elegant cabinets.

The Gardens are very fine, part of them constructed by the
late duchess in the German style with arbours, and treillaged :
and in the shrubbery, a very fine cascade forms a good object
in the point of view from the apartments in the back front.

The Park itself is thirteen miles round, and contains several
pieces of water. The lake near the house, which is very fine,
is laid out so as to represent an extensive river ; and whichs
being amphitheatrically surrounded with lawns that hang as it
were towards the house in varied and verdant slopes, has a fine
effect, enlivened as it is with several vessels of different sizes.

To give detailed descriptions of every spot within the environs
of Worksop, would far exceed our limits; but we must not
omit to mention Shire Oakes, as it is called from an ancient tree
of that name, where there is a good Hall house, fitted up ina
handsome and convenient style, the seat of John Heweut, Esq.
The chapel of this-hamlet, was lately erected and endowed by
the Rev. John Hewett, and consecrated by his grace the arch-
bishop of York.

This place, as we have noted, derived its name from an Oak,
which as Mr. Gilpin observes, in respect both to its size and the
dignity of its situation, deserves honourable mention.* In
point of grandeur, few trees in this country have ever equalled
it; as it spread a space of ninety feet from the extremities of
its opposite boughs. Ervelyn, in his Sylva, says it covered a
superficies of 707 square yards; and these dimensions, accord-
ing to Mr. Gilpin’s calculation, will produce an area capable of

covering
® Gilpin’s Forest Scenery.
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to the Cliftons who builta fine seat here. It seems now to be
enjoyed by several Gentlemen resident in its neighbourhood ;
particularly SirT.White, Bart, Richard Ramsden, Esq. and Robert
Kentish Esq. of Wigthorpe.

Carberton though marked as a place of some comsequence on
the maps, is merely a hamlet of three or four houses in the pa-
rish of Edwinstow. Near it is Cockglode the seat of Dr.
Aldrich, an elegant mansion built in 1778, and much admired
throughout the county and vicinity. The views from the hoase,
which stands upon a gentle swell, are extensive and pleasing ;
and the woods and home grounds are laid out with great attention
to picturesque effect,

Palethorp, or Peverelthorpe, adjoins Thoresby park, and is
in the same parish with it, (Edwinstow). It has a good inn,
and is the property of the Pierpoint family ; but has passed
through many hands since its first grant to Roger de Busli.

Crossing the forest into the high road frem Worksop to Mans.
field, we come to Cuckney, after passing the hamlet of Norton
through heavy sands by the pales of Welbeck Park. Here is
much wild forest scenery, asthe road skirts the lintits of Sher-
wood ; there are also some inclosures.

Leland in speaking of this place, says « from this bridge
(Welbeck) to Cuckeney village about a mile: and ther cam
down a broke from west, resorting as one said to Wilebek
stream, or Wilebek to it. There is 2 miles by corn, wood, and
pasture to Warksop village end, ther rana Bek; and this, as
the other doth, resorteth to Rufford stream.”

We find by Mr. Throsby’s authority, that this village has
only increased to its present size and importance within this
last half centory ; and that, in consequence of the worsted and
cotton manufactories established within that period. The miHs
are on an extensive and convenient plan, and give occupation
to a number of Children from the Foundling Hospital in the
metropolis. These poor, deserted objects, are placed under
- the care of proper superintendants, and lodged in separate

9 cottages
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be picturesque if shaded with planting; it is still, notwithstand.
ing, interesting, and strongly raises the idea of times long past,
" when steel clad knights, and barons bold, and haughty priests,and
smiling courtiers, and strait laced dames, and blushing damsels,
and the whole etcetera of feudal pomp and high minded chi-
valry paced its now deserted halls, where the bat and toad as-
sume the empire of the night, and wheie the sun only breas
in upona scene of desolation.

From this abode of sncient departed grandeur, we turnto
the right, and cross a wild eatent of the forest for about three
miles, to a scene of more modern desertion ; and entering
some thick and shady woods, we proceed until their forest
walks bring us to the Ollerton high road, where a park gate
leads through some thick overarching elms to

RUFFORD ABBEY,

an immense edifice of not very recent date, erected upon,
and engrafted into, the remains of the ancient monastic build-
ing. [Its situation is extremely sequestered, and the entrance
front is so completely embowered in a grove of elmand beech,
as to preserve much of the original character of the building,
though it has been so much altered by the ancestors of the
late patriotic Sir George Saville, its former possessor.

‘The ancient monastery, or Cistercian abbey, was founded here
in 1148, by Gilbert de Gaunt earl of Lincoln, for a colony of
‘monks whom he brought from Rivaulx abbey in Yorkshire, in
honour of the blessed virgin Mary.

At the dissolution it was found to contain fifteen of this holy
brotherhood, whose revenues amounted to 2541. ; after which
its scite and the greatest part of the church lands were granted
to George earl of Shrewsbury, in exchange for some others :
from whom, by the marriage of his grand daughter and heiress
to Sir George Saville of Barrowby in Lincolnshire, it came
to that family. '

Thoroton,
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but by no means so handsome as Holbein has painted her ia
one which is preserved at Losely id Surrey; yet as this one
bearsa great resemblance 1o a portrait of her at Hever castle in
Kent, the seat of her family, one is almost led to suspect that
Henry’s taste for beauty would not have been much followed at
the present day. ’

After descending another long range of stairtases, (of which
there are three or four and twenty in the house) we pass through
the Great Drawing Room in which is a fine portrait of the late
baronet, witha map before him; he is full length, but sitting.
In this apartment also are three views of Roche abbey; and a
very fine piece of wild boar and dogs, by Schneider.

But the two greatest curiosities amongst the paintings in this
mansion are exquisite little pieces, which the housekeeper has
been directed to keep locked up in one of her presses below.
One of them is a Dutch painting of a Fiddler and groupe, the
other an Old woman with flowers, the painter we believe un-
known, but the execution done in the most exquisite style of
high finishing. In short as pictures, they nmay almost be con-
sidered as invaluable, and we could not hel; expressing our as-
tonishment, that two cabinet bijour of such exquisite taste
should be thus suffered to lie unseen amidst table cloths and
napkins.

Though this mansion is uninhabited, the noble owner with a
religious affection to the memory of his ancestors, has preserv-
ed the gardens and grounds in the best state ; indeed every
thing is so clegant both within and without, that even a stranger
cannot help feeling regret that such a spot should be in a great
measure unenjoyed !

We cannot leave this place without noticing the plantations
of useful timber which took place under the auspices of the
late Sir George Saville. In the various parts of the forest

around
Having been taken to a concert in London, whilst attending upon the

Royal Society, he declarcd that the innumerable sounds prodaced by the
insttuments, had perplexed him beyond measure !
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The village is small ; and the church is much defaced though
formerly ornamented with painted glass, &c.

Annestey Hall and park are close to the church; the resi-
dence of John Musters Chaworth, Esq. Near this is also Whig-
hay, d seat belonging to another branch of the family.

Feliey had a priory dedicated to the Blessed Virgin Mary.
Nothing now remains of this monastic building, except some
small fragments incorporated in a farmer’s residence,

Proceeding from Mansfield on the forest road towards Not-
tingham, we pass through some wild forest scenery with inter-
vening patches of cultivation.

To the lefiis Blidworth pleasantly situated, and having a pic-
taresque sylvan vicinity. In the early part of the last century,
the foundation of the church was g0 much weakened by digging a
vault, that great part of the ancient edifice fell down; since which
its body has been rebuilt, still preserving the antique tower and
chancel. There are some curious old sepulchral stones with
the emblems of various trades ; and there is one with a date of
1608, and an inscription of the same period ; but its last occu-
pant seems to have it only at second hand, as the ornaments
and devices of dogs and deer, of bows and arrows, &c. mark
it of an earlier origin.

On the forest in this vicinity there is a curious conical rock
sixteen feet in diameter at the base ; it has been slightly hol-
lowed, and is supposed to have been used as an altar in Druidi-
cal times. Keeping again along the Noutingham road, we
come to the Hut, a small public house on the forest, near which
we turn to the right over some rude fields for

NEWSTEAD ABBEY,

The seat of the Right Hon. Lord Byron, and pass through
what was once the park, but now all brought into cultiva-
tion, and divided into farms. These grounds are still finely
diversified with hill and dale, but bare of wood, and presenting
a scene rather of desolation than of improvement.

Vou, X1I, 2C Newstead
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assistance from MS. Notes on * Hutchinson’s Fiew,” by R.e
BreArRMAN, Esq. of Eachwick-Hall: and was favoured with com-

munications or the loan of papers and records from the late #. He-

ron, Esq. of Newcastle; from Mr. Jokn Adamson and Mr. Jokn

Murray of the same place; from Mr. Jokn Chaloner of Morpeth ;

from Dr, Patterson of Berwick; and from various other Gentle-

men, to all of whom his grateful acknowledgements are due.
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Maiden-way, @ Roman road, 7.

Magna, a Roman station, 117.

Maison de Dieu, in Newcastle, 5.

Blansion House, in do. 65.

Manures used in Northumberland, ¢8.

Marches of the Border, 13, 29.

Margaret, queen of Scouand, 210.

Marle, 28 ; marlepits, 224.

Marley, Sir John, his gallant defence
of Newcastle, 41, 56.

Matfen, West, 177.

Mayor of Newcastle, 53, 71.

Meeting Houses of Disseuters, in
Newcastle, 59.

Merlay, family of, 183.

Middleton, fanily of, 84, 180, 183.

Milburne House, 108 ; Grauge, ib.

Mindrum, 224.

Minsteracces,, 168.

Mitford Castle, 185.

Moises, the Rev. Hugh, 60.

Molesden, 185.

Mouce Know, 139.

Monks stone, 91.

Monkchester, $8.

Montague, Mrs. Elizabeth, errata,
105.

MogreTa, 183—185.

Mote Hill, 138, 145, 157,

Mowbray, Earl, 10, 39.

Myrica, or sweet gale, 212,

Muscamp barouy, 217,.

N.

Netherwarden, 18¢.

Netherwitton, 183.

Newbrough, 130 ; Roman antiquities
at, 118.

Newburne, 1183,

Nrwcasrix veon Tynr, 36—7¢,

Newcastle assembly rooms, 66.

— Augustine Friars, 50.

— Baths, 62.

~————— Blackfriars, 49.

—————, Bridge of, 47.

—————, castle of, 39—44.

Carmelites, 51.

————— churches, and chapels, 55,
59.

» corporation of, 71.

r———— Cutom huuse, 66.

~~———— Disscnting Mecting huuses,
40,

Newcastle Exchange, 68.
Fairs, 71.
Gates in the walls, 47.
Hospitals, 51, 62. .
—————— Hugh, of Newcastie, 50,
———— Lubraries, 55, 67.
~————— Muison de Dicu, 54.
——=————— Mausion house, 65.
Markets, 71.
————— Medical institutions, 60, 6¢.
Northumberlaud house, 68,
———— Nuunery, 49.
———— Parishes and population, 3%,
———— Pilgrim street, 68.

Pr i

—

————— Religious houses, 49—55,

————— Sclivols, 58, 60,

—————siege of, 41.

——=—— Theatre, 67.

~——— Trinity house, 65.

Walls ot, 45,

Westnioreland place, 68.

Newminster abbey, 185,

Newsham, 97.

Newton Tor, 219.

Nobles, gold of Edward ‘the Third,
176.

Norbamshire, 2¢4.

Nontu Satxrps, 89.

Northumberland, the country of thé
Ottadini, 1 ; bouadaries of the ai-
cient kingdom of, 8 ; present boun-
daries of the county, and civil and
ecclesiastical divisions, 15 ; soil, &c.
25 ; ¢t seq.

Nunneries, 49, 110, 189,

Nunwick, 137.

0.

Ogle Castle, 101.

—-—, family of, 101, 102, 186, 188,
189, 219.

Ord, family of, 72, 150, 185,

Oswald’s, St. chapel, 155.

Ottadini, the boundaries of their
country, 1.

Otterbourne, castle, and battle of, er
rata, 146.

Otho, coins of, 76.

Ovinouam, 175,

P.
Parchment, with old characters upoa

it, 47

Paintings,
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1457, 37.
2043. 63.

4954.
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6238,
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Nomina liberi Tenentium in Comitatu Notting-
ham, 1569.

Alphabet of Arms, in Blazon, of the Notting-
hamshire Gentry. ’

Visitatiou of Notts. by Sir Richard St. George,
Norroy, king at Arms in 1614, &c.

Many Genealogical notices of the County, with
Arms, &c.

Many Genealogical Notices.

Church Notes and Arms in Annesley, Titheby,
and Whatton.

Arms of the Nottinghamshire Gentry.

Imperfect Notes concerning the Nottinghamshire

aronets, and their behaviour to Charles the

1st. Placita Forestz de Sherwood, of 8 Edw.
3. ad tempus Hen. 6. :

Numerous Extracts from old Deeds, with Monu-
mental Inscriptions, &c.

Short Description of Notts.

Grants from Henry the 8th to divers Persons.

Liit of the Gentlemen and most substantial Free-
holders in Notts.with the names of the persons
who signed the association. :
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Canals, 34.

Calverton, 407,

Carburton, 57¢.

Carlton, near Colwick, £10.

Carlton upon Trent, 255.

Carleton in Lindrick, 37.

CastrLes, of Nottingham, 104; of
Newark, ¢28.

Caves and cellars, at Nottingham, 80,
105 ; in Park, 114; at Speinton,
159.

Chappel, account of William, 285,
382.

Chesterfield Canal, $3.

Chilwell, 187.

Churches at Nottingham, 121,

Clay districts, 21.

Claworth, 308.

Clifton Hall, 18¢; Grove, 183; vil-
lage, 185.

Chfmu, North and South, 278.

Clinate, 19.

Clipstone Park, 385.

CLuMBER PaRK, seat of the Duke of
Newcastle, 358 to 367.

Coddington, 245.

Colston Bassct, £07.

Colwick Hall, 210.

Commerce of county, 35.

Corlinstock, or Costock, 198.

Cossal, and family vault, 164.

Cotton mills, 36.

Country seats, 16.

Cranmer family, and anecdotes, 219,

Creswell Crags, 371,

Cromuwell, 255.

D.

Darebeck river, 31.

Darwin, Dr. anecdotes of, 249,
Denthorpe, 275

Divisions of county, 1.
Drakelow and Tunnel, 302.
Dunham, or Dunholme, 287.

E.

Earls, 6.

East Bridgeford, 216 ; antiquities, 17.
FEast Leake, 193,

Eastwoud, and anecdotes, 163.
Euton, or Idleton, 314.

Ecclesiastical architecture, 43.

Eduwalton, 208.

Edwinstow, 39¢.

E, ton, and an , 284,

Efelnor, Queen, her death,
crosses, 280.

Elton, 228.

Elvaston, or Elston, 249.

Eavirons of Nottingham, 158,

Eperston, 973.

Erwash river, 30.

Estates and landed property, 13

Everton, 304.

Extent of county, 1.

Eykering, 271.

Ant:

and

F

Farms, state of, 24.

Felley, 401.

Fentun, some account of Sir Johm,
46.

Finuingley, and anecdutes, 305,

Fisterton, and Ferry, 275,

Fledbourough, 286.

Flintham, 248.

Forast oF Sasrwoob, 48.

G.
Gameston, 29¢,
Gedling, and anecdote, 211.
General [nfirmary at Nottingham,
129,
Gonalston, 274.
Gotham and anecdotes, 188,
Granby, 924.
Granthaw Canal, 39.
Green gown given to a nun, 279.
Greysley, Church and Mounumeats,
-10¢.
Gringlc&m the Aill, 307.
Grove Hall and village, 318,
Gunthorpe, £74.

H.

Habsthorpe, 311.

Hallam, 272.

Halloughten, and ancient Hall, 274,

Hardby, and Cross, 280. ’

Hawton, 246,

Hayton, S01.

Headon Hall, 313.

Hemlockstone, 167.

Hexgrave, and Roman Camp, 271.
Hickling,
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